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Important information 

 
The Registration Document is based on sources such as annual reports and publicly available information and 
forward looking information based on current expectations, estimates and projections about global economic 
conditions, the economic conditions of the regions and industries that are major markets for the Company's 
(including subsidiaries and affiliates) lines of business. 
 
A prospective investor should consider carefully the factors set forth in chapter 1 Risk factors, and elsewhere in 
the Prospectus, and should consult his or her own expert advisers as to the suitability of an investment in the 
bonds. 
 
This Registration Document is subject to the general business terms of the Joint Lead Managers & Bookrunners, 
available at its website (www.danskebank.no, www.dnb.no, www.nordea.no and www.swedbank.no). 
 
The Joint Lead Managers & Bookrunners and/or affiliated companies and/or officers, directors and employees 
may be a market maker or hold a position in any instrument or related instrument discussed in this Registration 
Document, and may perform or seek to perform financial advisory or banking services related to such 
instruments. The Joint Lead Managers & Bookrunners’ corporate finance department may act as manager or co-
manager for this Company in private and/or public placement and/or resale not publicly available or commonly 
known.   
Copies of this Registration Document are not being mailed or otherwise distributed or sent in or into or made 
available in the United States. Persons receiving this document (including custodians, nominees and trustees) 
must not distribute or send such documents or any related documents in or into the United States. 
 
Other than in compliance with applicable United States securities laws, no solicitations are being made or will be 
made, directly or indirectly, in the United States. Securities will not be registered under the United States 
Securities Act of 1933 and may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable 
exemption from registration requirements. 
 
The distribution of the Registration Document may be limited by law also in other jurisdictions, for example in 
Canada, Japan and in the United Kingdom. Verification and approval of the Registration Document by the 
Norwegian FSA (“Finanstilsynet”) implies that the Registration Document may be used in any EEA country. No 
other measures have been taken to obtain authorisation to distribute the Registration Document in any jurisdiction 
where such action is required. 
 
The Norwegian FSA has controlled and approved the Registration Document pursuant to the Norwegian 
Securities Trading Act, § 7-7. The Norwegian FSA has not controlled and approved the accuracy or completeness 
of the information given in the Registration Document. The control and approval performed by the Norwegian FSA 
relates solely to descriptions included by the Company according to a pre-defined list of content requirements. 
The Norwegian FSA has not undertaken any form of control or approval of corporate matters described in or 
otherwise covered by the Registration Document. The Registration Document was approved on 29 June 2018. 
The Registration Document is valid for 12 months from the approval date. 
 
The Registration Document together with a Securities Note and any supplements to these documents constitutes 
the Prospectus. 

 
The content of the Prospectus does not constitute legal, financial or tax advice and potential investors should 
seek legal, financial and/or tax advice. 
 
Unless otherwise stated, the Prospectus is subject to Norwegian law. In the event of any dispute regarding the 
Prospectus, Norwegian law will apply. 

http://www.danskebank.no/
http://www.dnb.no/
http://www.nordea.no/
http://www.swedbank.no/
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1 Risk factors 
 
Investing in bonds issued by Stolt-Nielsen Limited involves inherent risks.  
 
As the Company is the parent company of the Group, and primarily a holding company, the risk factors for Stolt-
Nielsen Limited are deemed to be equivalent for the purpose of this Registration Document.  
 
Prospective investors should consider, among other things, the risk factors set out in the Prospectus, including 
those set out in both the Registration Document and the Securities Note(s), before making an investment 
decision.  The risks and uncertainties described in the Prospectus are risks of which Stolt-Nielsen Limited is 
aware and that Stolt-Nielsen Limited considers to be material to its business. If any of these risks were to occur, 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited’s business, financial position, operating results or cash flows could be materially adversely 
affected, and Stolt-Nielsen Limited could be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection 
with the bonds.  Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out in the Registration 
Document dated 28 June 2018 and any accompanying Securities Note(s), and reach their own views prior to 
making any investment decision. 
 
An investment in the bonds is suitable only for investors who understand the risk factors associated with this type 
of investment and who can afford a loss of all or part of their investment. 

1.1 Industry and market risks of the Group 

1.1.1 Cyclical and volatile tankers industry 

 
The tanker industry is particularly cyclical and volatile, which may lead to reductions and volatility in freight rates, 
volumes and ship values. Fluctuations in the rates that Stolt Tankers B.V. (Stolt Tankers) can charge results from 
changes in the supply of and demand for ship capacity and changes in the supply of and demand for the products 
carried, particularly the bulk liquids, chemicals, edible oils, acids and other specialty liquids that constitute the 
majority of the products carried by Stolt Tankers. Factors influencing demand include supply of products shipped, 
industrial production, economic growth, environmental developments and the distances that products are moved 
by sea. Factors influencing supply include the number of new ships being built, the number of old ships being 
recycled, changes in regulations and availability of shipyards.  

1.1.2 Bunker fuel and freight costs 

 
Bunker fuel constitutes one of the major operating costs of the tanker fleet. Increasing fuel prices can have a 
material impact on the results. Although Stolt Tankers seeks to reduce the impact of price changes through 
bunker fuel surcharge clauses with customers, the residual impact can still be significant. Approximately 73.8% of 
total Stolt Tankers volume in 2017 financial year was derived from contracts of affreightment (“COA”). During that 
same period, approximately 97% of the volume carried under COA involved contracts that included bunker fuel 
surcharge clauses enabling fuel price fluctuations to be reflected in freight rates, so that when fuel prices rise, the 
extra cost is recovered from customers, and conversely when fuel prices fall the freight charged to our customers 
under these contracts is reduced.  

1.1.3 Piracy risk 

 
Piracy remains a serious and costly issue and in recent years piracy attacks on vessels have been a real threat in 
certain regions. If a ship is held hostage, this can lead to crew becoming injured or even fatalities and could lead 
to loss or damage to the vessel. As such, the Group goes to great lengths to protect its crew and assets by 
employing additional security and redirecting ships. Such additional security and waiting time resulted in costs of 
approximately $1.8 million in 2017. When Stolt Tankers does have to transit the pirated waters off the coast of 
East Africa, the passage is made in protected convoys or under the direct protection of hired security guards. 
 

1.1.4 Terminal Projects Risk 
 
Stolthaven Terminals has entered into a joint venture in China and obtained ownership over a network of 8 
terminals in Australia and New Zealand (Australasia) to build and expand chemical and oil products terminals. 
The development of terminal operations and jetties involves significant up-front investments in infrastructure and 
there are certain risks inherent in such developments, including political, regulatory, currency exchange, liquidity, 
financial and contractual risks. Different countries carry varying degrees of risk depending on social, cultural, 
political and financial development and stability. 
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1.1.5 Stolt Tank Containers 

 
For Stolt Tank Containers B.V. (Stolt Tanks Containers), the impact of increased ocean freight costs due to tight 
capacity on container ships in certain markets (such as the U.S.) and increased fuel prices has resulted in 
downward pressure on margins. In those instances, cost increases are passed on to customers when possible 
but given quoted rate validity periods to customers, there is a negative effect on margins until rates can be 
increased. In addition, the reduced availability of space on container ships in the current year has resulted in 
delays to shipments of cargo for customers and consequently a loss of revenue.  

1.1.6 Value of biological assets at Stolt Sea Farm 

 
All mature turbot and sole are held at fair value less costs to sell and costs related to harvest. Sturgeon and the 
caviar that the sturgeon produces are fair valued at the point of harvest. A fair-value adjustment is also made at 
the point when previously juvenile turbot and sole are considered to become mature, which typically occurs when 
the fish reach a specified weight. Fair value is determined on the basis of market prices, and gains and losses 
from changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement. 
 
The fair value of these assets fluctuates significantly based upon the seasonality, competition, market conditions 
and existing supply. The fair-value adjustment recognised in the fourth quarter of 2017 was $4.8 million positive, 
compared to a negative impact in the third quarter of 2017, of $2.9 million. There is a risk that future fair-value 
adjustments could negatively impact the income statement. 

1.1.7 Oversupply of biomass relating to Stolt Sea Farm 

 
Turbot and Caviar are both products which are sold in niche markets and benefit from high prices and margins 
due to the limited volume offered in the market. Any oversupply of products, either from wild catch or from other 
aquaculture producers, could negatively affect the price of these products and significantly reduce the margins in 
these markets. 

1.1.8 Regulatory risk 

 
The Group operates in a number of different jurisdictions and is subject to and affected by various types of 
governmental regulations and standards of industry associations related to the protection of human health and the 
environment. These include but are not limited to national laws and regulations and international conventions 
relating to ship safety and design requirements, disposal of hazardous materials related to normal operations and 
recycling of ships, discharge of oil or hazardous substances, food safety, marketing restrictions and various 
import and export requirements. Any changes in government regulation can have a significant impact on 
production costs and on the Group’s ability to compete effectively in the regulated markets. While environmental 
damage and pollution insurance is maintained, more stringent environmental regulations may result in significant 
fines and penalties for non-compliance, and increased costs for, or the lack of availability of, insurance against the 
risks of environmental damage or pollution. The U.S. Oil Pollution Act of 1990 may impose virtually unlimited 
liability upon ship owners, operators, and certain charterers for certain oil pollution accidents in the U.S., which 
has made liability insurance more expensive. Because the insurance is provided by mutual insurance companies 
and supported by other shipping companies, the Group is subject to funding requirements and coverage shortfalls 
in the event claims exceed available funds and reinsurance as well as premiums increase based on prior loss 
experiences. Any such shortfalls could have a material adverse impact on the Group. 
 
The Group’s operations involve the use, storage and disposal of chemicals and other hazardous materials and 
wastes. They are subject to applicable federal, state, local and foreign health, safety and environmental laws 
relating to the protection of human health and the environment, including those governing discharges of pollutants 
into the air and water, the generation, management and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes and the 
clean-up of contaminated sites. In addition, some environmental laws, such as the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response Compensation and Liability Act, similar state statutes and common laws, can impose liability for the 
entire clean-up of contaminated sites or for third-party claims for property damage and personal injury, regardless 
of whether the current owner or operator owned or operated the site at the time of the release of contaminants or 
the legality of the original disposal activities. 
 
Stolt Sea Farm is subject to the laws and regulations of the individual countries, including the U.S., Spain, 
Portugal, Norway, Iceland and France, in which their operations are situated, which strictly regulate various 
aspects of their operations. The hatcheries, on growing sites, and slaughteries are regulated by state 
environmental laws and laws regarding treatment of, and protection from, fish diseases and pollution. A more 
strict application of environmental laws may affect Stolt Sea Farm operations delaying its new projects and 
delaying the renewals of its permits on the existing sites. 
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1.1.9 Political and geopolitical risk 

 
The Group has international operations, and its business, financial condition and results of operations may be 
adversely affected by changing economic, political and government conditions in the countries and regions where 
the Group’s ships and tank containers are employed, and terminals are located. 
 
The Group is also exposed to geopolitical risks where territorial and other disputes between countries could lead 
to the outbreak of war or the existence of international hostilities that could damage the world economy, adversely 
affect the availability of and demand for petroleum and chemical products and adversely affect the Group’s ability 
to operate ships, terminals or tank containers. Moreover, the Group operates in a sector of the economy that is 
likely to be adversely impacted by the effects of political instability, terrorist or other attacks, war or international 
hostilities. 
 
For an effective and competitive global chemical shipping business, effectively managing geopolitical risk is a 
strategic imperative. Cross border expansion to facilitate corporate growth is a significant contributor to growth. In 
some cases, cargoes are located in or destined for troubled or developing markets where considerable cultural, 
infrastructure, security or technology challenges must be met. At the same time, population growth, especially in 
Asia, is creating new demand for petroleum and chemical products. Sufficient supply must be in place with 
supporting infrastructure and distribution to meet these high growth markets.  

1.1.10 Market and global economic risk 

 
The operations of the Group may be adversely affected by downturns in the general economic and market 
conditions in the countries and regions to and from which the Group transports cargos. For example, any 
significant and extended downturns in the U.S. or in the Asia Pacific region could have a negative effect on the 
Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Changes in the trading patterns of customers can 
also have a negative impact on Stolt Tankers and Stolt Tank Containers results if this is not anticipated. The 
success of the Group’s business depends in part on its ability to anticipate and effectively manage the economic 
and other risks inherent in international business. It may not be able to effectively manage these risks, which 
could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Group. 
 
There is also a risk that due to a downturn in the market, a new entrant would be able to enter the tanker market 
through the purchase of ships from a bankrupt or financially distressed company at a discounted amount. This 
would result in the new entrant having the ability to enter into freight contracts at amounts lower than market. 

1.1.11 Adverse weather and other natural conditions 

 
Inclement weather conditions may impact the Group’s operational performance. The Group’s ships and tank 
containers and their cargoes are at risk of being delayed, damaged or lost because of bad weather. Unpredictable 
weather patterns in winter months tend to disrupt ship and tank container scheduling, impacting productivity and 
revenue. In addition, the inland barge operations may be impacted by high or low water levels, or even icy 
conditions, making river transit more difficult and hazardous. 
 
The Houston Ship Channel closed down all activities on August 25, 2017 as Hurricane Harvey made landfall, and 
didn’t open up again until September 1, 2017 for limited operations. Stolthaven Houston was one of the first to 
become 100% operational on September 1; other terminals resumed operations gradually depending on the 
extent of damage and flooding. Stolt Tankers had a total of 17 ships in the region when Hurricane Harvey made 
landfall; as a consequence of the port closure ships had to go out to sea; following the reopening of the ship 
channel, the ships suffered severe delays due to congestion and unavailability of cargoes. A number of customers 
declared Force Majeure due to flooding; 54,000 tons of booked cargoes were cancelled or delayed, requiring 
replacements to be found in the spot market. The hurricane cost the company $7.0 million, due to the closure. 
 
Stolt Sea Farm may also be adversely affected from time to time by climatic conditions, such as severe storms, 
flooding, dry spells and changes in air and water temperature or salinity, and may be adversely affected by 
natural or man-made calamities, such as oil spills. Because the growth rates of fish are dependent on weather 
conditions, unexpectedly hot or cold temperatures may adversely impact growth rates, harm the fish and lead to 
losses of fish. Bad weather may also delay harvest or result in the loss of equipment or fish. Storms and floods 
can also cause damage to land based facilities involving an interruption in the water supply or seaweed 
blockages, which may lead to a loss of fish. 
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1.2 Risks related to the Group's business 

1.2.1 Contracts of affreightment risk 

 
To partially mitigate the volatile and cyclical tanker industry, Stolt Tankers actively manages the mix of business 
between COA and spot. COA business tends to be less volatile than spot business in terms of both rate and 
volume. In general, Stolt Tankers maintains a relatively high percentage of contract business. Management 
endeavours to increase the contract percentage and lengthen contract duration during periods of uncertainty or 
when management determines that market conditions are likely to deteriorate. However, this can result in lower 
revenues when freight rates are rising, and lower prices have been locked in. In addition, as COA rates are 
usually renewed annually, in periods of falling rates, the mitigation may only be short-term. 

1.2.2 Safety risk 

 
The operations of parcel tankers, gas carriers, tank containers and storage facilities carry an inherent risk of 
personal injury or death, damage to or loss of property and business interruptions.  
 
These risks can arise from, for example: 
 
•  marine disasters, such as collisions or other problems involving the ships or other equipment; 
•  pollution caused by leaks or spills of oils, chemicals or other products transported by the parcel tankers 

or tank containers or stored at the terminals; 
•  injuries, death or property damage caused by mechanical failures involving equipment or human error 

involving employees; 
•  terrorism, war or other hostilities affecting operations; 
•  piracy or hijackings involving ships; 
•  explosions and fires involving the chemical or other liquid products that are transported or stored at the 

terminals or involving equipment; and 
•  other similar circumstances or events. 
 
These risks are exacerbated because a significant portion of the cargo transported and stored involves hazardous 
chemicals. All the products carried must be handled with extreme care and require significant expertise. 
Customary levels of insurance for liability arising from operations have been obtained, including loss of or damage 
to third-party property, death or injury to employees or third parties and statutory workers’ compensation 
protection. There can be no assurance, however, that the amount of insurance carried is sufficient to protect the 
companies in the Group fully in all events and that any claim will be paid or that adequate insurance coverage at 
commercially reasonable rates can be procured in the future. A successful liability claims for which the Group is 
underinsured or uninsured could have a material adverse effect. Litigation arising from any such event may result 
in any of the Group companies being named a defendant in lawsuits asserting large claims. Any such event may 
result in loss of revenue, increased costs or future increased insurance costs. 
 
While the Group's ships are currently insured against property loss due to a catastrophic marine disaster, 
mechanical failure or collision, the loss of any ship because of such an event could result in a substantial loss of 
revenues, increased costs and other liabilities in excess of available insurance and could have a material adverse 
effect on the Group’s operating performance. 

1.2.3 Environmental risk 

 
The Group’s operations involve the use, storage and disposal of chemicals and other hazardous materials and 
wastes, all of which could pose a potential threat to the environment if not handled properly. There are many rules 
and regulations surrounding shipping and the handling of hazardous materials, which are all aimed at ensuring 
safer operations and better preparedness in the event of spills and accidents. Even so, there could be incidents 
not caused by the Group where the Group could be involved in environmental damage in the form of spills, 
damage to marine life or animal habitat. The consequence of such environmental damage could be significant 
costs related to the clean-up of spills, salvage costs and fines, as well as costs related to reputational damage. 
Although the Group carries insurance against such eventualities, the full cost could exceed the coverage afforded 
by the insurance. 

1.2.4 Reliance on time-chartered ships 

 
As of November 30, 2017, 23% of Stolt Tanker’s parcel tanker fleet (based on dead weight tons (“dwt”)) consisted 
of short and long-term time chartered ships. Although Stolt Tankers prefers to perform the management of these 
ships, because of both ship management capacity and market factors, certain ships are managed by third parties. 
Where the ship management is not performed by Stolt Tankers, the shipping services may not consistently meet 
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Stolt Tankers’ operational requirements. Customers do not differentiate between ships managed by Stolt Tankers 
and those managed by third parties and therefore do not differentiate in evaluating the performance of all these 
owned and managed ships. Major failures to meet customer’s expectations could impact the ability to do business 
with a number of large customers which could have a negative impact on net income. 

1.2.5 Risks that construction of ships (newbuildings) is not completed 

 
The Group is typically required to pay substantial sums as progress payments during construction of a 
newbuilding, without deriving any revenue from the ship until after its delivery. While refund guarantees from 
financial institutions can be entered into with respect to such progress payments, in the event the newbuildings 
are not delivered by the shipyard or accepted by Stolt Tankers, there is potential risk that a portion or all such 
refund guarantees cannot be collected, causing a loss of the monies advanced to the shipyards for such progress 
payments. 
 
Receipt of newbuildings could be delayed temporarily or indefinitely because of: 
•  quality or engineering problems; 
•  work stoppages or other labour disturbances at the shipyard; 
•  bankruptcy or other financial crisis of the shipbuilder; 
•  a backlog of orders at the shipyard; 
•  the Stolt-Nielsen Group's requests for changes to the original ship specifications; or 
•  shortages of or delays in the receipt of necessary construction materials or equipment, such as steel. 
 
If delivery of a ship is materially delayed, it could adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, 
cash flows and financial condition. 

1.2.6 Sea staff availability and retention risk 

 
The Group is dependent upon attracting and retaining key personnel and management personnel in its various 
business areas. There is a shortage of qualified and trained ship officers. Ship officer selection, training, 
competitive remuneration package and promotions are considered essential for Stolt Tanker’s future success. 
Moreover, there is always a risk that key employees may decide to leave the Group. The loss of the services of 
some of the seafaring personnel or the inability to successfully attract and retain qualified personnel in general, 
including ships’ officers, in the future could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial 
condition and operating results. 

1.2.7 Risk of diseases at Stolt Sea Farm 

 
Stolt Sea Farm may be adversely affected by natural conditions such as pollution, disease and parasites. Stolt 
Sea Farm uses farm management to control the impact of pollution and disease. If these precautions are not 
successful, Stolt Sea Farm could suffer losses to its fish stock, thereby reducing its revenues and resulting in 
possible losses. In certain instances, healthy fish may need to be culled, for example, under mandate from 
government authorities or voluntarily as part of an effort to control disease outbreak in the local farming area. 
Additionally, new diseases or parasites could emerge in a farming environment for which adequate 
countermeasures are not in place. 

1.2.8 Emerging market countries 

 
Instability in emerging market countries could have a negative effect on the operations of the Company in those 
countries (China, South America, South Africa, etc.). The risk profile of the Company will therefore encompass the 
risks involved in each of the countries, industries or businesses that each of the Company’s subsidiaries operates 
in. The businesses, financial condition, performance or prospects of the Group may be adversely affected by any 
of such risks. 
 
In the past, the emerging market countries have experienced some downturns in demand, high inflation or other 
economic and/or political instability. Economic instability in these countries could have a negative effect on the 
financial condition or results of operations of the Group. Changes in laws, such as the imposition of restrictions on 
foreign ownership or repatriation of earnings, could also have a negative effect on the ability of the Company to 
continue operations in these countries or to earn a profit from its operations in these countries. Also, political 
unrest in these countries could restrict the ability of the Group to carry on with normal operations. 

1.2.9 Legal proceedings 

 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited and its subsidiaries are a party to various legal proceedings. The Company is not able to 
determine whether a negative outcome in the described legal proceedings is probable, and therefore unable to 
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estimate a range of possible losses. It is possible that the outcomes of any or all of these proceedings could have 
a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. 
 
Provisions are made to cover the expected outcome of the proceedings to the extent that negative outcomes are 
likely and reliable estimates can be made. However, the final outcomes of these and other cases are subject to 
uncertainties and resulting liabilities may exceed booked provisions.  
 
Please refer to section 11.5 for more information. 

1.2.10 The Group faces a risk of counterparty default 

 
A significant downturn in the business or financial condition of a key customer or group of customers exposes the 
Group to the risk of default on contractual agreements and trade receivables, which could have a material 
negative impact on its financial condition, operational results and/or cash flows. 
 
The Group is exposed to counterparty risk predominantly in the form of (a) payments outstanding from customers 
for transportation or storage services rendered and where the control of the cargo has been transferred from the 
Group; (b) risk on payments made to contractors, in particular for investments in fixed assets to be constructed 
where the contracts require a stream of payments prior to the asset being delivered to the Group companies, 
even where these payments are covered by refund guarantees; (c) exposure to financial institutions as part of 
derivative transactions or guarantees issued in favour of the Group to secure other parties’ performance (e.g. 
contractors under item b); and (d) exposure to owners of ships chartered in under short or long-term time-charter 
agreements. 
 
These business activities expose the Group to the risk that one or more counterparties will default on their 
obligations, which could result in a direct financial loss for the Group, an unexpected increase in market exposure 
or higher operating costs, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial 
condition, results of operations and/or cash flows. Whereas there are insurances available to mitigate such 
exposure, there are also reputational risks which could lead to the loss of business from other owners’ poor 
performance. 

1.3 Financial risks of the Group 

1.3.1 Funding availability risk 

 
Due to the capital intensive nature of the industries in which the Group operates, it is dependent on steady access 
to funding. Part of this funding comes from its ongoing cash from operations. However, as operating cash flow 
fluctuates with the markets in which the Group operates, and the investments in fixed assets often happen in 
stages rather than being evenly spread, the Group is also dependent on external funding from the financial debt 
markets. To a great extent access to external financing is dependent on the Group's overall financial performance 
including its cash flow, balance sheet, expected future return on investments, and the risk perception of the 
industries in which the Group operates at any given time. Global economic and political factors could impact the 
availability of funding and the Group’s ability to finance its investments and ongoing operations. External financing 
is often secured by collateral assets, whose values fluctuate in line with the volatility in the markets in which the 
Group operates. During periods of market weakness, when the assets have a lower market value, the Group will 
be restricted in the amount of funding that can be obtained. This could lead to lower liquidity for the Group. No 
assurances can be made that the Group will be able to secure additional funding at all times on satisfactory 
terms, and the Group’s activities may be adversely affected if it’s unable to secure external financing. 

1.3.2 Currency risk 

 
Most of the Stolt Tankers and Stolt Tank Container revenue is earned in U.S. dollars while a significant portion of 
their operating expenses is incurred in other currencies, primarily the Euro, the Norwegian kroner, the Singapore 
dollar and the British pound. Where there is a mismatch between revenue and expense currencies, any 
depreciation of the revenue currency relative to the expense currency will decrease profit margins. 

1.3.3 Global financial markets risk 

 
Global financial markets can be highly volatile resulting in shorter or longer periods of reduced liquidity in the 
equity markets as well as the credit markets. The Group is from time to time dependent on external financing of its 
assets and its operations, at which time it needs to obtain bank financing or be able to issue bonds or other debt 
capital instruments. Volatility in the global credit markets could cause tightness in available liquidity and hence 
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limit the amount of financing the Company is able to obtain. Other factors, such as tighter regulation of the 
banking industry, could further limit the availability of liquidity and the cost of external bank financing. 
 
 

1.3.4 Tax risk due to future changes in tax laws in Bermuda 

 
At the present time, there is no Bermuda income or profits tax, withholding tax, capital gains tax, capital transfer 
tax, estate duty or inheritance tax payable by Stolt-Nielsen Limited or by its shareholders in respect of its shares. 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited has obtained an assurance from the Minister of Finance of Bermuda under the Exempted 
Undertakings Tax Protection Act 1966 that, in the event that any legislation is enacted in Bermuda imposing any 
tax computed on profits or income, or computed on any capital asset, gain or appreciation or any tax in the nature 
of estate duty or inheritance tax, such tax shall not, be applicable to Stolt-Nielsen Limited or to any of its 
operations or to its shares, debentures or other obligations except insofar as such tax applies to persons 
ordinarily resident in Bermuda or is payable by Stolt-Nielsen Limited in respect of real property owned or leased 
by it in Bermuda. The Bermuda government announced the extension of this exemption until 2035. However, 
although Stolt-Nielsen Limited is currently in the process of applying for the extended exemption, there is no 
guarantee that Stolt-Nielsen Limited will receive a renewed assurance from the Minister of Finance of Bermuda, 
or that the Bermuda government will not take action to impose taxes on Stolt-Nielsen Limited's business. 
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2 Definitions  
 
 
Annual Report 2016 The Company's annual report for the year ended 30 November 2016 
 
Annual Report 2017 The Company’s annual report for the year ended 30 November 2017 
 
Bye-Laws Bye-laws of Stolt-Nielsen Limited 
 
Cbm Cubic Meter 
 
CPP Clean petroleum product 
 
COA Contracts of Affreightment 
 
Company/Issuer/Stolt-Nielsen Limited/ 
SNL Stolt-Nielsen Limited, an exempted limited liability company incorporated 

under the Companies Act 1981, as amended, of Bermuda 
 
Company Board or Company  The board of directors of the Company 
Board of Directors  
 
EEA European Economic Area 
 
General Average All parties in a sea venture proportionally share any losses resulting from a 

voluntary sacrifice of part of the ship or cargo to save the whole in an 
emergency  

 
Group the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time, including joint 

ventures accounted under the equity method of accounting 
 
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
Interim Report Q1 2018 Stolt-Nielsen Limited's interim report for the period ended 28 February  
 2018 
 
ISIN International Securities Identification Number 
  
 
Joint Lead Managers Danske Bank A/S, DNB Bank ASA, Nordea Bank AB (publ) and 

Swedbank Norway 
 
LPG Liquefied Petroleum Gas 
 
NOK Norwegian kroner 
 
Prospectus The Registration Document together with a Securities Note constitutes the 

Prospectus. 
 
Securities Note A document describing bonds to be offered and/or listed. 
 
SNG Stolt-Nielsen Gas 
 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited  The memorandum of association of the Company, as amended 
Memorandum of Association and currently in effect 
 
Registration Document this document dated 30  November 2017 
 
VLGC Very large gas carriers 
 
VPS or VPS System The Norwegian Central Securities Depository, Verdipapirsentralen 
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3 Persons responsible 

3.1 Persons responsible for the information 

 
Persons responsible for the information given in the Registration Document are as follows: 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited, Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. 

3.2 Declaration by persons responsible 
 
Responsibility statement: 

Stolt-Nielsen Limited confirms that, taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information 
contained in this Registration Document is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and 
contains no omission likely to affect its import. 
 
 
28 June 2018 
 
 
 
 
------------------------------------------- 
Jens F. Grüner-Hegge, CFO 
Authorised Signatory 
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4 Statutory Auditors   

4.1 Names and addresses 

 
The Company’s auditor for 2017 and 2016 has been PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent public 
accountants, 1 Embankment Place, London WC2N 6RH, England.  
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is a Statutory Auditor registered by The Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales. 
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5 Information about the issuer 

5.1 History and development of the Issuer 

5.1.1 Legal and commercial name 

 
The legal name of the issuer is Stolt-Nielsen Limited, the commercial name is Stolt-Nielsen. 

5.1.2 Place of registration and registration number 

 
The Company is registered in the Bermuda Registrar of Companies with registration number EC 44330. 

5.1.3 Date of incorporation 

 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited was incorporated on 11 June 2010. 

5.1.4 Domicile and legal form 

 
The Company is an exempted limited liability company incorporated under the Companies Act 1981, as amended, 
of Bermuda. See also section 7.1 (“Description of Group that Company is part of”). 
 
The Company's registered address is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The 
Company's telephone number is +441 292-7337. 

5.1.5 Recent events  

 
There are no recent events related to Stolt-Nielsen Limited which to a material extent are relevant for the 
evaluation of the issuer’s solvency.   

5.1.6 The issuer’s objects and purposes 

 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited is a global provider of integrated transportation, storage and distribution solutions for 
chemicals and other bulk-liquid products, delivered through its three largest operating units: Stolt Tankers, 
Stolthaven Terminals and Stolt Tank Containers. Stolt Sea Farm is a producer of premium turbot, sole, sturgeon, 
and caviar. Stolt-Nielsen Gas is developing supply-chain opportunities in the LNG space. 
 
Please see Memorandum of Association for the Issuer, clause 6attached as appendix 1 to this Registration 
Document. 

5.2 Investments 

5.2.1 Recent principal investments  

 
On January 11, 2018, the Group’s joint venture Hassel Shipping 4 took delivery of M/T Stolt Palm, the last 33,000 
dwt fully stainless steel newbuildings from New Times Shipbuilding. 
 
During the three months ended February 28, 2018, the Group spent $30.3 million on property, plant and 
equipment. Cash spent during the quarter primarily reflected (a) $16.8 million on terminal capital expenditures, (b) 
$5.1 million on drydocking of ships, (c) $4.8 million on tankers capital expenditures and (d) $1.6 million on the 
purchase of tank containers and construction at depots. Interest of $1.0 million was capitalised on the new 
construction of terminals and gas newbuildings.  
 
For the three months ended February 28, 2018, the Group paid deposits of $7.3 million for the gas newbuildings.  
Proceeds of $0.4 million were received from the sale of ships, retirement of tank containers and other assets.   
During the three months ended February 28, 2018, the Group spent $0.7 million on intangible assets, mainly on 
computer software. Revaluation for foreign exchange differences for goodwill and other intangibles amounted to a 
gain of $1.0 million in the same period. 
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On March 15, 2018, the Group’s joint venture NYK Stolt Tankers, S.A. took delivery of Stolt Excellence, the last 
38,000 dwt fully stainless steel newbuildings from Hudong-Zhonghua Shipbuilding (Group) Co., Ltd in China. 
On March 19, 2018 the Group repaid a NOK 873.5 million bond (SNI03) equivalent to US $148.7 million using 
funds from its revolving credit facility.  
 
From March 1, 2018 to April 11, 2018, a further 134,232 shares have been repurchased for $1.8 million under the 
share buy-back program, leaving $24.9 million available for further purchases. 
 

5.2.2 Principal future investments  

 
As of February 28, 2018, and November 30, 2017, the Group had total capital expenditure purchase 
commitments outstanding of approximately $92.5 million and $113.7 million, respectively. At February 28, 2018, 
the total purchase commitments consisted of one newbuilding contract for two 7,500 cbm LNG carriers of $58.9 
million, new and existing terminal expansion projects of $32.3 million and other smaller projects of $1.2 million. Of 
the total purchase commitments at February 28, 2018, $33.6 million is expected to be paid over the next 12 
months, $7.6 million of that amount has financing in place. The remaining $26.0 million will be paid out of existing 
liquidity 

 
The above newbuilding contract for the 7,500 cbm LNG carriers was announced on May 24, 2017.  These ships 
will be built by Keppel Singmarine with expected delivery in 2019. The first newbuilding deposit of $7.3 million was 
paid in June 2017. The second newbuilding deposit of $7.3 million was paid in December 2017.  The total cost for 
both ships is approximately $80.0 million, including site team costs and capitalised interest. The Group has 
options to purchase two additional similar ships. 
 

5.2.3 Anticipated sources of funds  

 
Please refer to the above paragraph for sources of funding relating to the principal future investments. 
 
Based on the groups funding needs for the next five years, it is planned to refinance the ships included in the 
$200m facility in relation to the acquisition of Jo Tankers which was closed in November 2016 as well as the 
refinancing of the terminal network in Australia and New Zealand. They mature in November 2018 and February 
2019 respectively.  
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5.3 Selected financial information 

 
Selected financial information for the Group is shown in clauses 5.3.1 and 5.3.2. 

5.3.1 Selected financial information for interim periods 

 
The selected financial information for interim periods is unaudited. 
 
Q1 2018: 

 
 

 
 
a) EBITDA before fair value of biological assets, insurance reimbursements and 
other one-time, non-cash items 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Full Year

1Q18 4Q17 1Q17 2017

Operating Profit (before one-offs) $46.7 $47.0 $51.8 $204.9

Terminals accelerated depreciation -       -        (0.6)      -           

Reversal of deferred tax liability at JV 8.2     -        -        -           

Gain / (loss) on sale of assets -       0.9       (2.0)      (0.5)        

Jo Tankers integration costs -       -        (0.4)      (0.4)        

Impairment of Stolthaven New Zealand -       (8.4)      -        (8.4)        

Impairment of Bitumen accounts receivable -       (1.5)      (0.3)      (1.5)        

Impairment of Bitumen property -       (6.9)      -        (6.9)        

US DB pension plan & medical insurance changes -       7.2       -        7.2         

Operating Profit (as reported) $54.9 $38.3 $48.4 $194.4

Net Interest Expense (34.6)  (34.5)    (31.7)    (130.2)    

FX gain / (loss), net (1.5)    0.2       0.8       (2.8)        

Income tax  a) 19.8   (3.4)      (2.4)      (12.2)      

Other 0.2     0.3       0.1       1.0         

Net Profit $38.8 $0.9 $15.2 $50.1

Attributable to equity holders of SNL 38.7   1.1       15.2     50.3       

Attributable to non-controlling interests 0.1     (0.2)      -        (0.2)        

Net Profit $38.8 $0.9 $15.2 $50.1

EBITDA  b) $109.4 $111.2 $120.4 $468.9

Quarter Feb.28.18

Cash and cash equivalents $70           

Receivables 265           

Other current assets 187           

Total current assets 523           

Property, plant and equipment, deposits 3,424        

Investment in and advances to JV and 

associates 556           

Other non-current assets 185           

Total non-current assets 4,165        

Total assets $4,688      

Current mat. of LT debt and fin. leases 460           

Accounts payable and ac. expenses 326           

Other current liabilities 111           

Total current liabilities 897           

LT debt and finance leases 2,058        

Other non-current liabilities 170           

Total non-current liabilities 2,228        

Total liabilities $3,125      

Shareholders equity $1,563      

Total liabilities and SH equity $4,688      

Period ended
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5.3.2 Selected historical financial information  

 
2017: 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

(in US thousands) 2017 2016 
ASSETS 
Total Current Assets 483,865 

                 
466,931 

                 
Total Non-Current Assets 4,130,994 

              
3,954,287 

              
Total Assets 4,614,859 

              
4,421,218 

              
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 
Total Current Liabilities 884,272 

                 
952,709 

                 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 2,251,758 

              
2,084,921 

              
Total Liabilities 3,136,030 

              
3,037,630 

              
Shareholders' equity 1,478,829 

              
1,383,588 

              
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 4,614,859 

              
4,421,218 

              

As at November 30 
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2016: 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

(in US thousands) 2016 2015 
ASSETS 
Total Current Assets 466,931 

                 
426,406 

                 
Total Non-Current Assets 3,954,287 

              
3,468,095 

              
Total Assets 4,421,218 

              
3,894,501 

              
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 
Total Current Liabilities 952,709 

                 
836,893 

                 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 2,084,921 

              
1,728,372 

              
Total Liabilities 3,037,630 

              
2,565,265 

              
Shareholders' equity 1,383,588 

              
1,329,236 

              
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 4,421,218 

              
3,894,501 

              

As at November 30 
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6 Business overview 

6.1 Activities 

 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited is a global provider of integrated transportation, storage and distribution solutions for 
chemicals and other bulk-liquid products, delivered through its three largest operating units: Stolt Tankers, 
Stolthaven Terminals and Stolt Tank Containers. Stolt Sea Farm is a producer of premium turbot, sole, sturgeon, 
and caviar. Stolt-Nielsen Gas is developing supply-chain opportunities in the small-scale LNG space.  
 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited continues to build its reputation and performance on the Company’s fundamental strengths: 
 
• Experienced, talented people 
• Market leadership positions 
• Diversified business model 
• Focus on balance sheet 
 
Stolt Tankers’ focus on long-term contracts over the last several years has generated benefits for both Stolt 
Tankers and its customers. By focusing on contract business, Stolt Tankers limits its exposure to volatile freight 
rates in the spot market. 
 
Stolthaven Terminals focus on the profitability of its different terminals around the world. 
 
As volumes continue to flow into tank containers from other modes, Stolt Tank Containers’ growth strategy is 
focused on expanding its core chemical tank container business by penetrating new geographic markets, growing 
its food-grade businesses, and building up Stolt Tank Containers’ global network of offices and depots, especially 
in developing markets, through wholly-owned or joint-venture facilities. 
 
Stolt Sea Farm’s long-term growth strategy is to continue to innovate and grow in the seafood market at 
landbased farms with species where biological and technological expertise and know-how are unique to the 
company and represent a strong barrier of entry to new players and, as a result, a clear competitive advantage. 
The viability of Stolt Sea Farm’s sole farm in Anglet has enabled Stolt Sea Farm to move forward adding 
production capacity in Iceland. Stolt Sea Farm is currently the world’s only aquaculture company with the 
capability to farm sole at an industrial scale. Stolt Sea Farm is also actively pursuing an expansion of its sturgeon 
and caviar production. These initiatives are aimed at establishing Stolt Sea Farm as one of the major producers in 
sole and caviar, premium products that will not only fuel Stolt Sea Farm’s future growth but reduce Stolt Sea 
Farm’s exposure to the cyclicality of the more competitive turbot market. 

6.1.1 Principal activities   
 
Stolt Tankers 

Stolt Tankers has been a pioneer in the parcel tanker industry since 1959. As of November 30, 2017, Stolt 
Tankers operated a fleet of 155 parcel tankers, product tankers, river tankers, and barges ranging in size from 
approximately 1,000 to 46,000 dwt and with total capacity of approximately 2.9 million dwt. Of the 155 parcel 
tankers, 73 ships provide intercontinental service, while the rest provide a regional service. Of the 155 parcel 
tankers, the Stolt-Nielsen Group owns 84 ships, has an interest in 33 ships via several joint ventures and 34 are 
time charters, either directly or indirectly. 4 vessels are bare-boat chartered. 
 
The parcel tanker industry occupies a market niche in the worldwide tanker trade. Unlike crude oil tankers which 
generally load a full cargo at one port for one customer and discharge at one destination, parcel tankers, as the 
name implies, carry many cargoes (as many as 58 parcels) for many customers on the same voyage and load 
and discharge cargo at many ports. Typically, a parcel tanker may carry a wide range of bulk liquids shipped in 
parcels of several hundred to several thousand tons each. 
 
To facilitate handling of the diverse range of products carried by parcel tankers, Stolt Tankers' fleet is comprised 
of highly specialised ships. Stolt Tankers’ sophisticated intercontinental parcel tankers typically have 40 to 58 
separate cargo tanks of varying sizes to permit the carriage of up to that number of fully segregated cargoes. The 
tanks are made of stainless steel or specially coated or lined steel to maintain the integrity of the variety of 
chemicals and other products carried and to facilitate cleaning. In addition, many tanks have independent heating 
and cooling systems to provide temperature control for each cargo. The level of sophistication of parcel tankers is 
reflected in new-building costs that are substantially higher than those for equivalently sized product tankers. 
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Stolt Tankers’ parcel tanker fleet covers nearly all the major international trade routes served by the industry. Stolt 
Tankers operates its ships on round-trip voyages with cargo carried on both outbound and inbound legs. These 
trade routes maximise utilisation of ships which seldom sail without cargo. 
 
Stolt Tankers operates its major intercontinental services through the Stolt Tanker Joint Service ("STJS"), a 
contractual arrangement managed by Stolt Tankers for the coordinated marketing, operation, and administration 
of the fleet of parcel tankers owned or chartered by the STJS participants in the deep-sea intercontinental market. 
The Group makes the daily operating decisions of the STJS and provides such services as entering into COA with 
customers making pricing decisions, directing the STJS ships’ voyages, collecting receivables and paying voyage 
operating expenses, all on behalf of the STJS. Stolt Tankers is primarily responsible for the fulfilment of the 
services contracted on behalf of STJS. The STJS ships are marketed by Stolt Tankers’ professional chartering 
personnel worldwide using state-of the-art marketing and cargo tracking information systems as part of Stolt 
Tankers’ worldwide network of chemical transportation and distribution services.  
 
The STJS participants include affiliates and non-affiliates of Stolt Tankers. As of November 30, 2017, this fleet 
was comprised of 73 parcel tankers totalling approximately 2.4 million dwt. The STJS collectively operates five 
ships owned by NYK Stolt Tankers S.A. (“NYK Stolt”, 50%-owned by Stolt Tankers), seven ships owned by 
Hassel Shipping 4, a 50-50 JV between ST and JOI. 
 
Each ship in the STJS is assigned an earnings factor based upon its cargo carrying capacity and technical 
capabilities. The profitability of each ship is determined by its share of the STJS results, and not by the specific 
voyages performed. This enables the management of the STJS to schedule the fleet to optimise its total results. 
 
Stolt Tankers also operates tankers in six regional markets, two of which are in conjunction with joint venture 
partners. The Stolt NYK Asia Pacific Services Inc. joint venture operates in the East Asia and Southeast Asia 
areas, with the tankers marketed by Stolt Tankers’ offices in these areas. The Stolt-Nielsen Inter-Europe Service 
operates small tankers in European coastal waters while Stolt-Nielsen Inter-Asia Service operates small tankers 
in East Asian coastal waters. The Stolt-Nielsen Inland Tanker Service currently operates 33 inland tankers on the 
Northwest European waterways. The Stolt-Nielsen Inter Caribbean Services operate in the Gulf of Mexico and the 
Caribbean.  
 
In 2005, Stolt Tankers established a joint venture, Shanghai Sinochem-Stolt Shipping Co. Ltd., with Sinochem 
Shipping Co., Ltd to operate chemical tankers in the Chinese coast cabotage market. The joint venture received 
its operating license from the China Ministry of Communication and has secured three strategic contracts with 
multinational chemical companies in China. As of November 30, 2017, the joint venture owns and operates 9 
ships. Stolt Tankers’ share of the joint venture is 49%. 
 
Since the acquisition of Jo Tankers in 2016 eight joint-venture newbuildings together with JoT’s existing 13 
chemical tankers have joined the Stolt Tankers fleet. These, along with JoT personnel and customers have been 
successfully integrated into the business, enhancing trading synergies, offering new tradelanes and significantly 
reducing administrative and general costs 
 
Stolt Tankers manages all its owned ships and employs its own seafarers. Stolt Tankers' shipowning division has 
achieved accreditation, International Standards Organization (“ISO”) 9001:2008 (Quality Management Systems), 
ISO 14001:2004 (Environmental Management Systems), and International Safety Management (“ISM”) 
certification. ISO is not industry specific and is also an optional quality standard with which ST complies. ISM is a 
regulatory requirement governed by the International Maritime Organization ("IMO"). Stolt Tankers has a 
complete quality assurance system to confirm that all of operations are performed to a properly documented, 
uniformly high standard. 
 
Stolt Tankers’ personnel coordinate most of the marketing and sales efforts directly with Stolt Tankers’ parcel 
tanker customers. In some markets third-party brokers support this effort. 
 
Stolt Tankers’ tanker operations make extensive use of information systems in both the commercial, operations 
and ship management sides of the business. The commercial and operations functions have computer systems 
encompassing the scheduling of cargos to suitable voyages, ensuring cargo stowage obeys all maritime and 
customer specific rules for safety and product quality, and monitoring all revenue and costs whilst automatically 
notifying customers of cargo status and arrival dates. On the ship management side, the systems monitor the age 
and fitness of the fleet, scheduling maintenance and tank cleaning processes, and monitoring inventories of parts. 
Additionally, the systems look after crew planning and the vital crewing requirements to ensure crew have all the 
necessary licenses and permissions to operate the ships. 
 
 
Stolthaven Terminals 

Stolthaven Terminals operates a network of 19 bulk liquid storage terminals around the world. Stolthaven 
Terminals offer bulk liquid storage and handling services and are distribution centres for the transfer of products 
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between various modes of transportation, including ships, rail, barge and tank trucks. Stolthaven Terminals 
utilises its network to improve the operational efficiency of Stolt-Nielsen Limited’s parcel tankers. Stolthaven 
Terminals can reduce the amount of time the ships spend in port when its customers use the company's terminal 
facilities, enabling Stolthaven Terminals to operate more efficiently. The terminals are available to Stolt Tankers 
customers and operate as independent third-party facilities, open to all customers and ship owners on a first-
come first-served basis. 
 
In October 2011, Stolthaven Terminals completed the acquisition of a 70% stake in Marstel Terminals, renamed 
Stolthaven Australasia, a network of nine bulk-liquid storage facilities in Australia and New Zealand with a total 
combined storage capacity of approximately 177,000 cbm. In 2014 the remaining 30% was acquired. As at 
November 30, 2017 the total capacity of the Australasia terminals was 243,369 cbm. 
 
2012 was an active year for Stolthaven Terminals in terms of growth. In January, the division acquired a bulk-
liquid terminal in the Port of Moerdijk, the Netherlands, which provides additional support for Stolt’s inter-
European coastal tanker and inland barging services. In October, Stolthaven Terminals also acquired a terminal 
in Dagenham in the Port of London. This terminal is the division’s first in the UK market and provides added 
support to Stolt Tankers’ inter-European coastal fleet. 
 
During 2013, Stolthaven Terminals divested non-strategic assets in Perth Amboy, U.S. and Ningbo, China. 
 
In 2017, ground was broken at the Stolthaven Houston for the construction of a new ship dock capable of 
handling both ships and barges – all part of an ongoing $100 million-plus investment programme aimed at a 
broad range of infrastructure improvements, automation and expansions at the terminal. The dock follows the 
addition of more than 100,000 cbm of storage in 2014, a doubling of the capacity of the terminal’s existing barge 
dock, and an expansion of the terminal’s TCEQ Centralised Waste Treatment Facility on the Houston Ship 
Channel. Future expansion options include the development of 162,000 square metres of adjacent land, which, if 
fully utilised, could double the terminal’s existing capacity. 
 
Capital projects were also completed at Stolthaven’s terminals in Dagenham, UK; Ulsan, South Korea; and 
Moerdijk, the Netherlands. The Dagenham terminal – acquired in 2012 and located on the River Thames – has 
benefited from more than $20 million in extensive modernization and expansion investment. In Ulsan – a gateway 
strategically located in North Asia – more than 160,000 cbm of storage has been added. At Stolthaven’s terminal 
in Santos, Brazil storage capacity is being increased by 16,000 cbm, as the facility has successfully shifted from 
ethanol storage – as exports dropped – to mainly diesel fuel. 
 
As of end of November 2017, Stolthaven Terminals owned and operated two tank storage terminals in the U.S., in 
Braithwaite, Louisiana and in Houston, Texas, one in Santos, Brazil, one in Dagenham in England, one in 
Moerdijk in the Netherlands and one in Jurong Island in Singapore. These six facilities had a combined capacity 
of approximately 1.5 million cbm of liquid storage. Stolthaven’s operations also owned 9 terminals in Australia and 
New Zealand with a total storage capacity of around 250,000 cbm. Finally, Stolthaven Terminals also had interest 
in four operational joint ventures consisting of (i) a 49% interest in Stolthaven Westport Sdn. Bhd., a joint venture 
which has a terminal facility in Westport, Malaysia (ii) a 50% interest in Jeong-IL Stolthaven Ulsan Co. Ltd. which 
has a terminal facility in Ulsan, South Korea, (iii) a 65% interest in Tianjin Lingang Stolthaven Terminal Co. which 
has a terminal facility in Tianjin, China, (iv) a 40% interest in Tianjin Lingang Stolthaven Jetty Company, which 
owns and operates a jetty and docks in Tianjin, China and (v) a 50% interest in Oiltanking Stolthaven Antwerp 
N.V. which has a terminal facility in Antwerp, Belgium. Stolthaven Terminals account for the results of these joint 
ventures under the equity method of accounting. Stolthaven Terminals’ total combined capacity is approximately 
4.7 million cbm of liquid storage with average utilisation levels at around 87.9% for 2017. 
 
Stolthaven Terminals currently holds the ISO 9001 certification for the Group's terminal business systems in 
Houston, Braithwaite and Santos. Stolt-Nielsen Limited implemented system for tracking customer contracts and 
tank inventory, as well as for producing customer bills and reports. Stolthaven Terminals also received security 
certification in 2004 as required by IMO with the certification being handled by regulatory authorities in each 
country where the terminals are located. 
 
As of year-end, 2017, Stolthaven Terminals also operated a fleet of around 450 leased railroad tank cars 
consisting of general-purpose low-pressure and specialised high-pressure tank cars. 
 
Stolt Tank Containers 

The emergence of tank containers as a means of transporting bulk liquids such as chemicals and oils dates back 
to the early 1970s. Tank containers are stainless steel cylindrical tanks enclosed in rectangular steel frames, with 
the same outside dimensions as 20 foot dry box containers. They carry 17,000 to 26,000 litres of bulk liquids (16 
to 24 tons, depending upon the specific gravity of the product). This compares to the smallest compartment in a 
parcel tanker which can carry approximately 100,000 litres of bulk liquid. Tank containers can be transported on 
container ships, rail cars, and trucks. 
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Stolt Tank Containers entered the tank container business in 1982 when it acquired United Tank Containers, 
which at the time operated about 400 tank containers. As the market grew, Stolt Tank Containers steadily 
expanded its tank container fleet through the purchase or lease of newly manufactured tank containers and 
through acquisitions. Stolt Tank Containers specialises in making all transportation arrangements from origin to 
destination on behalf of the shipper, which is known as “door-to-door” shipping. As of November 30, 2017, Stolt 
Tank Containers operated a fleet of more than 35,000 tank containers. 
 
In November 2004, Stolt Tank Containers established a joint venture in China, Shanghai Stolt-Kingman Tank 
Containers Transportation Ltd, with Shanghai Kingman Container Service Company Limited. Stolt Tank 
Containers has an 80% interest in the company which was established to provide integrated, multi-modal tank 
container services to China’s bulk liquid chemical and food industries. In June 2005, Stolt Tank Containers 
acquired Ermefer, the food-grade container business of Group Ermewa S.A., a global provider of logistics 
services. This transaction added nearly 300 leased tanks to the food grade sector of the tank container division. 
During 2005 and 2006, Stolt Tank Containers added 980 new units to its fleet by the purchase of newly built tank 
containers from the China Industrial Manufacturing Company. 
 
In 2008 Stolt Tank Containers acquired the Taby Group based in Hamburg, Germany. This transaction increased 
the owned tank fleet by 5,000 tanks and opened up new inroads into the German, European and emerging 
markets where the Taby Group had strong relationships. 
 
In 2010 Stolt Tank Containers embarked on a new build programme to construct 6,000 new tanks to complement 
the existing fleet. The expectation of future growth in the segment and the move from more expensive leased 
tanks toward a higher proportion of owned tanks, are key components in the strategy of the division. 
 
The number of depots in STC’s global network rose to 21 in 2017, with the opening of two new facilities, in Laem 
Chabang, Thailand and Vado, Italy. Construction also began on two new depots in Saudi Arabia – in Jubail and 
Dammam – with a third depot planned for Jeddah. In addition, STC’s depot in Kobe, Japan was renovated and 
expanded, while the Houston and Singapore depots added new loaded storage capacity. 
 
All of Stolt Tank Containers' tanks are built and maintained to the standards of the IMO, the ISO, the U.S. 
Department of Transportation and other relevant governmental and private organizations. Stolt Tank Containers 
requires that all of its tank containers be constructed according to, and have valid certificates in accordance with, 
the International Convention for Safe Containers (“CSC”). Stolt Tank Containers conducts periodic inspections in 
conformity with CSC and IMO testing requirements to ensure compliance with those safety and trading 
requirements. 
 
Stolt Tank Containers' tank container operations require facilities for tank cleaning and repair. In Europe and the 
U.S., third-party contractors primarily perform this work. In Rotterdam, Houston, and the Asia Pacific region, Stolt 
Tank Containers has established its own facilities to ensure high standards of quality, reduce costs, and increase 
market penetration by facilitating the ready supply of containers. The facilities in Japan and Korea are operated 
through joint ventures. In October 2006 Stolt Tank Containers opened a newly-built, wholly-owned tank cleaning 
and repair facility in Shanghai, China operating under the name Shanghai Stolt Container Terminal Ltd. 
 
Stolt Tank Container’s operations have received ISO 9001:2000 certification which is a framework for quality 
management and quality assurance. Stolt-Nielsen Limited’s Move/Quote System is used by the tank container 
personnel on a worldwide basis to schedule, track, trace and bill for tank container movements. 
 
Stolt Sea Farm 

Stolt Sea Farm is involved in the aquaculture industry. Aquaculture is the controlled breeding, growing and 
harvesting of seafood in a captive environment. The predecessor of Stolt Sea Farm was founded by Jacob Stolt-
Nielsen in 1972 and was acquired by the Stolt-Nielsen Group in 1991. 
 
Until April 29, 2005, Stolt Sea Farm produced, processed, and marketed a variety of high quality seafood. Stolt 
Sea Farm had salmon production sites in Norway, North America, Chile, and Scotland, salmon and trout 
production sites in Norway and Chile, a tilapia production site in Canada, turbot production sites in Spain, 
Portugal, Norway, and France, a halibut production site in Norway, a Southern blue-fin tuna ranching operation 
and production site in Australia and sturgeon and caviar production sites in the U.S. Although Stolt Sea Farm 
diversified into farming species other than salmon, salmon remained the primary focus. Stolt Sea Farm had 
worldwide marketing operations with sales organizations covering the Americas, Europe, and Asia Pacific, and 
built a substantial seafood trading and distribution business in the Asia Pacific region. In 2005, Stolt-Nielsen S.A. 
completed the merger of the salmon operations of Stolt Sea Farm and Nutreco Holding N.V. into a new stand-
alone business entity, Marine Harvest. The investment was subsequently sold to Geveran Trading Co. Ltd. in 
2006. Stolt Sea Farm’s bluefin tuna operations were sold in 2006, leaving Stolt Sea Farm with its turbot 
operations in Spain, Portugal, Norway and France. 
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On December 22, 2006, Stolt-Nielsen S.A. announced the completion of Stolt Sea Farm’s reacquisition from 
Marine Harvest of a 75% equity interest in its sturgeon and caviar business, Sterling Caviar LLC. The remaining 
share ownership is held by Sierra Aquafarms. Sterling Caviar LLC is based in Sacramento, California. Today Stolt 
Sea Farm is focusing on the farming of turbot, sole and caviar.  
 
Turbot juveniles are produced by Stolt Sea Farm and held in small land-based tanks through which sea water is 
pumped continuously. It takes an average of 28 months for the fish to grow to the optimum size for sale (about 
two kilograms). During this time the fish are sampled to control growth every month and monitored and fed daily, 
by hand or automatically. Stolt Sea Farm has been developing for a number of years the ability to farm sole. Stolt 
Sea Farm has a production capacity of 50 tons annually in two pilot facilities. Stolt Sea Farm’s strategy is to 
guarantee a supply of turbot and sole to its customers throughout the year as there is very little seasonality in 
stock levels. Stolt Sea Farm’s sales force in Lira, Spain markets all of its turbot production in Europe, mainly in 
Spain, France and Italy. Traditionally, there have been several intermediaries between producers and consumers 
of fresh seafood, but there is a trend to sell directly to food service operators, mainly supermarket chains. Most of 
the turbot is distributed from Stolt Sea Farm’s packing plant in Lira, Spain using distribution channels for fresh fish 
in Galicia, the region of Spain where Lira is located. 
 
In October 2012, the division acquired Acuidoro S.L., a turbot farm in Cervo, Spain. The turbot farm is expected to 
increase SSF’s turbot production to around 5,400 tons annually. The hatchery will provide all the juvenile fish 
needed for both SSF’s existing turbot operations and our rapidly expanding sole operations. 
 
During 2017, SSF obtained permits and licences for its new sole farm in Tocha, Portugal. Construction of both the 
Tocha farm and SSF’s new sole farm in Cervo, Spain, which is being built next to an existing turbot facility, will 
begin in 2018. The two new facilities will leverage SSF’s proven recirculation technology, which has been 
developed and tested over a period of more than 10 years and has already been deployed at SSF’s sole farm in 
Anglet, France. 
 
Stolt Sea Farm has a production capacity of 5,400 tons of turbot, 850 tons of sole and 10 tons of caviar annually. 
 
Stolt-Nielsen Gas 

After Stolt-Nielsen Limited established Stolt-Nielsen Gas in 2007, the division announced its entry into the LPG 
transportation market in November 2009. 
 
On December 2nd, 2010 Stolt-Nielsen Gas Ltd. (“SNGL”) sold 50% of the shares in its wholly owned subsidiary, 
Avance Gas Holding Ltd., to Sungas Holdings Ltd. (“Sungas”) to form a 50-50 joint venture. As part of the 
transaction, Avance Gas acquired three VLGCs from Sungas.  The three VLGCs from Sungas were added to the 
fleet of Avance Gas. After the transaction Avance Gas owned four VLGC, operated a fifth VLGC, and also time 
chartered a medium-sized gas carrier.  The medium-sized gas carrier and one of the VLGC were engaged on 
long-term time charters.  The remaining four ships were traded in the spot market.   
 
During 2012, Avance Gas acquired four very large gas carriers (VLGCs) from Transpetrol Holdings Ltd. and two 
from Maran Gas Maritime Inc. after these transactions, Transpetrol became one-third shareholder in AGHL, 
joining Sungas Holdings Ltd. and Stolt-Nielsen Gas Ltd. as an equal owner. At year-end 2012, Avance Gas’ fleet 
consisted of eight VLGCs, following the redelivery in November of two ships previously on time charter.  
 
In July 2013, Transpetrol decided to withdraw as an owner of Avance Gas Holding Ltd and exercised its option to 
re-acquire their two ships, leaving Stolt-Nielsen Gas and Sungas sharing equal ownership of AGHL again. That 
announcement was quickly followed in August by news of Frontline 2012 becoming a one-third owner of AGHL. 
Subsequent to that, AGHL agreed to purchase eight 83,000 cbm VLGC newbuildings that had been ordered 
earlier by Frontline 2012. AGHL’s fleet by year-end 2013 was six VLGCs. 
 
Stolt-Nielsen Gas owns 8.6% in AGHL which is trading on the Oslo Børs since April 15, 2014 (ticker: AVANCE). 
Consistent with its strategy of participating in the ongoing consolidation of the LPG market, Stolt-Nielsen Gas, 
through Avance Gas expects to continue to charter and acquire ships, as attractive and competitively-priced 
opportunities present themselves.  
 
An investment of $5.6 million in HIGAS S.r.L was made in September 2017, increasing SNL’s holding to 66.25%. 
During 2017, SNG announced that it has contracted with Keppel Singmarine for the construction of two 7,500cbm 
LNG carriers, with options to purchase three additional ships. The two initial ships, with a value of $80 million are 
scheduled to be delivered in the third and fourth quarters of 2019.  
 
Stolt Bitumen Services 

Founded in 2007, Stolt Bitumen Services continued to build up its operations in 2009 and 2010. Stolt Bitumen 
Services’ primary objective is to establish a foothold in the growing Asia Pacific market, where demand for 
bitumen has been strong, driven primarily by government investment in infrastructure. Road and airport projects in 
the region will likely ensure robust bitumen demand for at least the next several years. 
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Since the Group established Stolt Bitumen Services, the division has focused on the development of partnerships 
in its key growth markets. In Indonesia and the Philippines, these partnerships are aimed at developing efficient 
distribution hubs to meet end-user demand. In certain markets such as Vietnam, Stolt Bitumen Services is 
working on the development of its own Stolt-branded storage and distribution capabilities. 
 
As of May 31, 2014, Stolt Bitumen Services had two ships on time charter (Stolt Fuji (5,900 dwt) and Singapura 
Selatan (3,000 dwt)). SBS took delivery of one 3,500 dwt ship from China (Stolt Kilauea) in June 2014 and has a 
sister ship under construction with expected delivery in the second half of 2014. SBS operates a 5,900 dwt tanker 
on time charter to Total S.A. in Europe, and one 3,000 dwt tanker that is on time charter for the South East Asia 
market.  
 
In 2017, it was decided that the Bitumen service would close, and as such all trading was ceased. Discussions 
are taking place in Indonesia and Vietnam with a number of parties to take on the assets of the company. Focus 
in the business will remain on securing the best exit for Stolt from this business, preferably by year end or early 
2019, with the exception of the ships, which will be held until market conditions allow for a viable exit plan. 

6.2 Principal markets 

6.2.1 Market perspectives  
 
Stolt Tankers 
Stolt Tankers is engaged in the worldwide transportation and distribution of bulk liquid chemicals, edible oils, acid 
and other specialty liquids. Whereas the crude oil and clean petroleum product ("CPP") tankers are considered 
energy trades, the parcel tanker segment dynamics are driven by the broader macro-economic factors such as 
industrial production and ultimately consumer demand. The industries that Stolt Tankers' customers serve include 
the automotive, building material, packaging, electronics, cosmetics, and food industries. 
 
Products 
The range of products that Stolt Tankers ships is significant with around 600 different products handled in recent 
years. The products are grouped into a few different categories such as petrochemicals, edible oils, acids, 
oleochemicals derived from edible oils, lubricating oils and lubricating oil additives, and on certain trade routes 
even clean petroleum products. The ships that Stolt Tankers operates are built to be able to handle the full range 
of products, and will have the capability to heat cargoes up to 95 degrees Celsius and in some case to cool the 
cargoes down to 15 degrees Celsius, provide full segregation for each cargo onboard, produce nitrogen to inert 
tanks and blanket the cargoes, and be able to handle the cargoes in a completely closed system to avoid any 
vapours from escaping. Also, as the requirements for cleanliness are very stringent in order to preserve the purity 
of the cargoes, the ships are equipped with sophisticated tank cleaning machinery, including ample storage 
capacity for tank cleaning slops to be retained onboard until they can be safely discharged ashore for treatment. 
 
Trade Routes 
The parcel tanker markets are generally split into deep sea trade routes and regional trade routes where the deep 
sea trade routes are typically serviced by larger ships of 15,000 deadweight tons or more and the regional trade 
routes are serviced using ships smaller than 15,000 deadweight tons either due to physical port restrictions or 
voyage economics or both. The deep sea trade routes are predominantly intercontinental routes. Stolt Tankers 
also trades on regional routes around Northwest Europe, Asia Pacific/Australia/New Zealand and the Gulf of 
Mexico/Caribbean. Traditionally the main chemical trade routes have been out of the U.S. to Europe and Asia as 
well as out of Europe to Asia. In later years Stolt Tankers has seen a significant build-up in production capacity of 
commodity chemicals in the Middle East Gulf targeting buyers in Asia Pacific and to a lesser extent in the U.S. 
and Europe. From Asia to the U.S. and Europe, Stolt Tankers has seen good volumes of commodity chemicals 
from South Korea and vegetable oils from Southeast Asia. 
 
Customers 
The customer base of Stolt Tankers is comprised of major producers and consumers of the above mentioned 
product groups as well as product traders. Traditionally the big chemical companies and petrochemical 
companies are based in either the U.S., Europe or Japan, but Stolt Tankers is increasingly seeing the emergence 
of significant charterers in the Middle East and Asia. 
 
Competitors 
Stolt Tankers faces competition from a number of global and regional competitors. Whereas there are a large 
number of chemical tanker operators, Stolt Tankers has identified a group of core competitors in the deep-sea 
trades consisting of 19 parcel tanker operators as of November 30, 2017, and a large number of regional players 
in each of the regional markets that Stolt Tankers operates in. 
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Stolthaven Terminals 

The chemical storage market consists of independent storage terminal operators as well as captive storage 
terminals operated by and for specific producers. The captive storage terminals are typically located at the plants 
and service only that one plant. Amongst the independent terminal operators there are two significant players in 
the liquid chemical storage market: Vopak and Oiltanking. These two companies have by far the largest number 
of terminals servicing the liquid chemicals market. In addition there are a large number of smaller, privately owned 
individual storage terminals at various locations around the world. 
 
Stolt Tank Containers 

Stolt Tank Containers operates in a number of different segments within liquids distribution: chemicals, food 
grade, and specialty products. The chemicals segment is by far the largest tank container segment for the division 
with around 37,000 tank containers servicing their customers by the end of May 2018. In addition they use special 
tanks for the carriage of products that require special equipment and/or handling. 
 
The tank container industry represents one segment of the overall marine transportation market, and specialises 
in transporting goods from the point of production to the point of consumption. Product movements, and therefore 
growth in the industry, are driven predominantly by the distance between where goods are produced and where 
they are consumed. For instance, it is common that certain products in markets served by the tank container 
industry are heavily produced in a developing country and heavily consumed in an industrialised country. This 
creates a need for transportation that connects buyers and sellers. 
 
Competition 
Stolt Tank Containers is a large independent global operator of intermodal tank containers with approximately 
35,000+ tank containers in operation and approximately 121,000 container moves annually. Stolt Tank Containers 
competes with other tank container operators, operators of shipper-owned tank containers, barrel drums and 
liquid bags, and on land with operators of truck and rail tank cars. Competition within the tank market, which 
varies by region, is highly stratified and dominated by a few large companies. 
 
The largest companies operating on an international scale, in addition to Stolt Tank Containers, are Interbulk, 
VOTG, Hoyer Global Transport and Bulkhaul. There are also several small to mid-sized operators or regional 
carriers that compete in Stolt Tank Containers’ markets, although they have a smaller presence than global 
competitors. These carriers include Suttons, Interflow and Newport. 
 
The global food-grade market is much smaller on a volume basis with fewer global carriers. Main competitors 
include John S. Braids and RMI Isotank. Many food-grade customers also manage or operate their own fleets of 
containers. 
 
The major competitive drivers in the industry relate to the fundamental forces of supply and demand: 
 
Supply Factors 
Availability of Tank Containers: The ability of the industry to provide cost competitive services depends upon the 
number of containers available for transport, and the associated rates. The largest manufacturer of tanks for the 
international tank container market operate in China and South Africa, with other major manufacturers located in 
the United Kingdom and the European continent. 
 
Container Lines: Container line companies are major operators of vessels that transport containers overseas. The 
tank container industry relies on the ability of container lines to provide services and sufficient capacity on a cost-
effective basis. 
 
Demand Factors 
Growth in Demand from Substitution: There has been a pronounced shift in the transportation of chemicals from 
55-gallon drums to the more environmentally safe and economic mode via tank containers. Tank containers are 
increasingly replacing drums due to economies of scale and the environmental benefits of tank containers over 
drums and tote bins. 
 
Supply-Chain Optimization: Producers and consumers of chemicals and other industrial products continue to seek 
value by optimizing the supply chain to increase speed and enhance efficiency. The tank container industry has 
been able to streamline the process of transporting goods from the producer to the end-user. 
 
Shift in Frequency of Cargo Shipments: The tank container is a preferred solution when small lots of chemical 
parcels require several bulk transportation modes and storage to deliver the product from door-to-door. 
 
Growth from Multi-Modal Capabilities: The U.S. and Europe have experienced a shift away from traditional land 
tanker trucks to intermodal tanks. The multi-modal capabilities of tank containers are attractive for land (truck, rail) 
and ocean transport, as well as for storage. Tank containers make it possible to take advantage of low cost rail 
transportation, particularly for long haul land shipments. In addition, the capital cost of a tank container/chassis is 
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far less than that of a tanker truck. In Europe the tank container has already penetrated the market and 
substituted tanker trucks on medium and long hauls. 
 
Stolt Sea Farm 
 
Flatfish 
Stolt Sea Farm focuses predominantly on the European turbot market. The farming market takes place in Spain, 
France, Portugal and Iceland within the 10 aquaculture facilities located in these countries. .  
 
The offer in the market is showing volatility due to the different production challenges from our competitors. As a 
consequence of this volatility and a weak demand resulting from the economic recession in 2008, turbot prices 
have been fluctuating and it is expected to continue until the offer of turbot stabilizes.  
 
Stolt Sea Farm has always focused on high standards with regards to product quality and service, the strategy is 
to ensure continuous supply of high quality products to maximise margins. Stolt Sea Farm has also made an 
effort to promote a brand name which identifies Stolt Sea Farm and its products. The sales force is concentrated 
in Santiago de Compostela, Galicia, Spain and the turbot and sole are marketed in Europe, mainly Spain, Italy 
and France. Most of the turbot is distributed from Stolt Sea Farm’s packing plant in Lira, Spain using distribution 
channels for fresh fish in Galicia, the region of Spain where Lira is located. 
 
Caviar 
Stolt Sea Farm produces about 10 tons of caviar per year which are marketed around the world. 
 
The caviar international trade is subject to strong limits and regulations by the CITES (Convention on International 
Trade on Endangered Species) and every year quotas are established to limit the exports of caviar produced from 
wild sturgeons. This quota has been zero for the last four years. The total production of farmed caviar is estimated 
to be of about 95 metric tons per year, so that Stolt Sea Farm holds a share of about 6% of the world caviar 
production, including both farmed and wild catch sturgeons. 
 
Stolt Bitumen Services 

Stolt Bitumen Services (SBS) was founded in 2007 with the goal to become an important provider of logistics and 
distribution services for bitumen producers in Asia. SBS targeted Asia as it is a relatively fragmented market in 
terms of operators and supply chains, and also because it is a growing market in which there are opportunities for 
leveraging Stolt’s strengths and expertise. 
 
SBS took delivery of one 3,500 dwt ship from China (Stolt Kilauea) in June 2014 and has a sister ship under 
construction with expected delivery in the second half of 2014. SBS operates a 5,900 dwt tanker on time charter 
to Total S.A. in Europe, and one 3,000 dwt tanker that is on time charter for the South East Asia market. 
 
SBS’s terminal operations consist of three bitumen storage terminals in Asia. The first is a 50/50 joint venture with 
BMM in Gresik, Indonesia (East Java), with two 4,300 cbm storage tanks and facilities for filling tank trucks, 
bitutainers and bags. SBS also leases a terminal in Cirebon, Indonesia (Central Java), with one 5,800 cbm 
storage tank with truck and bitutainer loading facilities. The third terminal is 100% owned and custom built in Long 
An, Vietnam, outside of Ho Chi Minh City. This terminal has a 4,000 cbm storage tank, a 200 cbm day tank, dual-
truck and bitutainer loading capabilities, a polymer blending plant and a drumming facility. SBS also operates 135 
bitutainers, focusing on delivering product into Indonesia, Vietnam, the Philippines and Australia.  
 
Due to the poor market conditions and outlook, SBS has ceased trading and the business will be closed soon. 
 
Stolt-Nielsen Gas 

Total Marine Fuels Global Solutions forecast global demand for LNG as a marine fuel will reach 1-1.5 million MT 
by 2020 and reach about 20-30 million MT by 2030, from the current demand of 500,000 MT, this view is also 
shared by Lloyd’s registry. 
 
Newbuilding contract in place with Keppel Singmarine for the construction of two 7,500 cbm LNG carriers to be 
built in Nantong, China at a delivered cost of $40M each, with option for three more; expected deliveries in late 
2019.  
 
SNG has negotiated a heads of agreement with an oil major with the intention to charter the first ship for trading in 
the Mediterranean; second ship is expected to trade in Northern Europe. HIGAS has received all regulatory 
approvals and permits to construct and operate a 10,000cbm LNG terminal in Oristano, Sardinia; long-term 
offtake agreements in negotiations. 
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6.2.2 Statements regarding competitive position 

  
Stolt Tankers 
 
Stolt Tankers faces competition from a number of global and regional competitors. Whereas there are a large 
number of chemical tanker operators, Stolt Tankers has identified a group of core competitors in the deep-sea 
trades consisting of 19 parcel tanker operators as of November 30, 2017, and a large number of regional players 
in each of the regional markets that Stolt Tankers operates in. Based on a number of tonnage and global scope, 
Stolt Tankers is considered to be between the top players in the industry. 
 
Stolthaven Terminals 
 
Amongst the independent terminal operators there are two significant players in the liquid chemical storage 
market: Vopak and Oiltanking. These two companies have by far the largest number of terminals servicing the 
liquid chemicals market. In addition, there are a large number of smaller, privately owned individual storage 
terminals at various locations around the world. 
 
Stolt Tank Containers 
 
Competition within the tank container market, which varies by region, is highly fragmented and dominated by a 
few large companies. The largest companies operating on an international scale, in addition to Stolt Tank 
Containers, are Interbulk, Hoyer Group, Bulkhaul, etc. There are also several small to mid-sized operators or 
regional carriers that compete in Stolt Tank Containers’ markets, although they have a smaller presence than 
global competitors.  
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7 Organizational structure 

7.1 Description of group that issuer is part of 

 
The Group consists of more than 5,000 employees worldwide with 42 offices in 26 countries. 
 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited is the holding company of the Group. Investments in which the Company holds at least 20% 
in their share capital are as follows:  
 
 

 
 
 
The subsidiaries listed above, own directly or indirectly all the business divisions of the Group.   

 
 
 

 

7.2 Issuer dependent upon other entities  

 
All business operations of the Company are carried out by the Company's subsidiaries. Therefore, the profit of the 
Company makes it dependent on the results of the operations of the Company's subsidiaries. 

Undertaking's Name (Legal Form)

(in thousands) Registered Office Ownership %

Stolt-Nielsen M.S. Ltd Bermuda 100%

Stolt Tankers Ltd Bermuda 100%

Stolt-Nielsen Gas Limited Bermuda 96%

Stolt Tankers Holdings Ltd Bermuda 100%

Stolt-Nielsen Finance Ltd Bermuda 100%

Stolt-Nielsen Ship Finance Ltd Bermuda 100%

Stolt-Nielsen Investment Pte Ltd Singapore 100%
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8 Trend information 

8.1 Statement of no material adverse change 

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since the date of its last published 
audited financial statements. For further information, see clause 12.6 (“Significant change in the financial or 
trading position”).  

8.2 Outlook  
 
Stolt Tankers 
There is no lack of uncertainty when it comes to the economic outlook for 2018—nor is there a lack of tonnage in 
the chemical tanker space, given the combination of the newbuildings orderbook and the continued likely 
presence of CPP tonnage. These factors point to the likelihood of slightly improved earnings in 2018. That said, 
the potential for further consolidation in the chemical tanker space may bring about unanticipated changes and 
opportunities. Regardless, Stolt Tankers remains committed to the pursuit of competitively superior processes 
and solutions that help to optimise supply-chain performance, regardless of market conditions. 
 
Stolthaven Terminals 
Though geo-political factors are a concern, the chemical markets in which Stolthaven operates are likely to 
remain stable, reflecting the GDPs of countries where Stolthaven’s facilities are located. As a result, ongoing 
actions to enhance Stolthaven’s global cost structure and improve operating efficiency should contribute to 
improved performance and operating results this year. The outlook for oil and petroleum products is the one 
wildcard in 2018, as there may be a correction in the market, with suppliers tightening up supplies, in order to 
draw down the current glut of oil still in storage globally. That said, Stolthaven’s balanced focus on chemicals 
reduces its exposure to the potential volatility in oil. 
 
Stolt Tank Containers 
Facing challenging market conditions, Stolt Tank Containers remains focused on maintaining its industry 
leadership by expanding its global scale, by utilising technology to drive continuous improvements in operational 
efficiency, and by operating in a manner that is safe for people and the environment—actions that drive both Stolt 
Tank Containers’ competitive advantage, as well as the unrivaled service that it faithfully delivers to its customers. 
 
Stolt Sea Farm 
The strengthening of turbot and sole prices in recent years bodes well for SSF, especially as sole production 
ramps up and as increasing numbers of customers in new markets are introduced to SSF’s unique products. 
 
Stolt Bitumen Services 
We expect the weak market to continue and the cost incurred for the completion of winding down the distribution 
business in Indonesia and Vietnam to be resolved as soon as possible. 
 
 Stolt-Nielsen Gas 
Investment to help grow the fleet and capacity of the company to meet the growing demand for clean-burning 
LNG and innovative distribution solutions.  
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9 Administrative, management and supervisory bodies 

9.1 Information about persons 
 
Board of Directors 

 
The table below sets out the names of the members of the Board of Directors of the Company:  
 

Name  Position  Business address  

Samuel Cooperman Chairman 
 

Stolt-Nielsen Limited, XL Building 
One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM11, 
Bermuda 

Niels G. Stolt-Nielsen 

 
Director Stolt-Nielsen Limited, XL Building 

One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM11, 
Bermuda 

Rolf Habben Jansen Director Stolt-Nielsen Limited, XL Building 
One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM11, 
Bermuda 

Håkan Larsson Director Stolt-Nielsen Limited, XL Building 
One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM11, 
Bermuda 

Jacob B. Stolt-Nielsen 

 

Director Stolt-Nielsen Limited, XL Building 
One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM11, 
Bermuda 

Tor Olav Trøim 

 
 
Jan Chr. Engelhardtsen 

Director 
 
 
Director 

Stolt-Nielsen Limited, XL Building 
One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM11, 
Bermuda 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited, XL Building 
One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM11, 
Bermuda 

 
Samuel Cooperman 

Mr. Samuel Cooperman has served as a Director of Stolt-Nielsen Limited since 2008 and as Chairman of the 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors since 2009 and Chairman of the Board of Directors since 2016. He 
joined Stolt-Nielsen in 1974 and held a number of senior management positions, including Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of Stolt-Nielsen Transportation Group. He retired in 2003. Mr Cooperman was a member of the 
Executive Committee of the International Chamber of Shipping until May 2010; he also served as Vice-Chairman 
for two years. Mr Cooperman is the Chairman and CEO of New York Cruise Line, Chief Executive Officer of 
Cooperman Weiss Consulting LLC and is a Director on the Board of National Principles Leadership Institute. 
He holds BS and MS degrees in Electrical Engineering from Columbia University and from the Graduate School 
at the University of Pennsylvania, respectively, and an MBA from Temple University. He is a citizen of the 
United States. 
 
Niels G. Stolt-Nielsen 

Mr. Niels G. Stolt-Nielsen has served as a Director of Stolt-Nielsen Limited since 1996 and as Chief Executive 
Officer since November 2000. He served as Interim Chief Executive Officer of Stolt Offshore S.A. from September 
2002 until March 2003, and was the President of Stolt Sea Farm from 1996 until 2000. In 1994 he opened and 
organised Stolt-Nielsen Limited’s representative office in Shanghai. Mr. Niels G. Stolt-Nielsen joined the Company 
in 1990 in Greenwich, Connecticut, working for Stolt Tankers. He is the Chairman of the Board of Avance Gas 
Holding Ltd and is a Director of Golar LNG Ltd. Mr. Niels G. Stolt-Nielsen graduated from Hofstra University in 
1990 with a BS degree in Business and Finance. He is a Norwegian citizen. 
 
Rolf Habben Jansen 

Mr. Rolf Habben Jansen has served as a Director of Stolt-Nielsen Limited since December 2015, and as Chief 
Executive Officer of Hapag-Lloyd AG since July 2014, following his appointment to the Hapag-Lloyd AG Executive 
Board in April 2014. He was previously Chief Executive Officer of Damco, the global logistics firm, from 2009, 
and before that Head of Global Customer Solutions at DHL from 2006. He began his career at Royal Nedlloyd, 
before joining Danzas, the Swiss logistics firm, which merged with DHL in 1999. Mr. Habben Jansen graduated 
from the Erasmus University in Rotterdam in 1991 with a degree in Economics. He is a Dutch citizen. 
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Håkan Larsson 

Mr. Håkan Larsson has served as a member of the Board of Stolt-Nielsen Limited since June 2007 and as 
Chairman of the Compensation Committee since 2016. He was the Chief Executive Officer of Schenker AG from 
2000 to 2003 and of Rederi AB Transatlantic from 2003 to 2007. Her serves as Chairman of Tyrens AB,Valea 
Holding AB and Wallenius Wilhelmsen Logistics AS; a director of Eukor Car Carriers, Inc and of Rederi AB 
Transatlantic. He also serves as Chairman of the Board of InPension Holding AB and he is a member of the 
regional board of Handelsbanken. Mr. Larsson holds a Bachelor of Economics degree from the Gothenburg 
School of Economics. He is a Swedish citizen. 
 
Jacob B. Stolt-Nielsen 

Mr. Jacob B. Stolt-Nielsen has served as a Director of Stolt-Nielsen Limited since 1995. He served as an 
Executive Vice President of Stolt-Nielsen Limited from 2003 to 2004. In 2000, he founded and served as Chief 
Executive Officer of SeaSupplier Ltd. until 2003. From 1992 until 2000 he held the position of President, 
Stolthaven Terminals, with responsibility for the global tank storage business. He joined the Company in 1987 and 
served in various positions in Oslo, Singapore, Greenwich, Connecticut, Houston, Texas and London. Mr. Stolt-
Nielsen is the CEO and founder of Norterminal AS, and is a member of the boards of the following companies: 
Beta AS, Timms AS, Bothel Holding AS, New York Cruise Lines, Inc. and Biomed Clinic AS. Mr. Stolt-Nielsen 
graduated from Babson College in 1987 with a BS degree in Finance and Entrepreneurial studies. He is a 
Norwegian citizen. 
 
Tor Olav Trøim 

Mr. Tor Olav Trøim has served as a Director of Stolt-Nielsen Limited since April 2016. He has served as a 
Director and Vice Chairman of Golar LNG Limited since the company was established in May 2001. In the first 
years of operation, Mr. Trøim was also the Company’s CEO. Mr. Trøim has served as Chairman of Golar LNG 
Partners since the company was listed in 2009. He is currently a partner in Magni Partners UK. Between 1995 
and 2014, Mr. Trøim was employed by Seatankers Management Co., and served as Chairman and a Director of 
Seadrill Limited between 2005 and 2014. From 1995 to 2014, he was, at various times, CEO of a number of 
related public companies, including Frontline Limited, Knightsbridge Tankers, Ship Finance Ltd. and Seadrill Ltd. 
He has served as a director on the Boards of Frontline, Marine Harvest ASA, Golden Ocean Group Limited, 
Archer Limited and Aktiv Kapital ASA, among others. Prior to 1995, he was an equity portfolio manager with 
Storebrand ASA and Chief Executive Officer for the Norwegian Oil Company DNO AS. Mr. Trøim graduated as 
M.Sc. Naval Architect from the University of Trondheim, Norway in 1985. He is a Norwegian citizen. 
 
Jan Chr. Engelhardtsen 

Jan Chr. Engelhardtsen has served as a Director since March 2018. He had served as Chief Financial Officer of 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited from 1991 until 2018. He served as Interim Chief Financial Officer, Stolt Offshore S.A. from 
September 2002 until March 2003. He served as President and General Manager of Stolt-Nielsen Singapore Pte. 
Ltd. from 1988 through 1991. He has been associated with Stolt-Nielsen since 1974. Jan holds an MBA from the 
Sloan School at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, as well as undergraduate degrees in Business 
Administration and Finance. He is a citizen of Norway. 
 
 
Management 

The table below sets out the names of the members of the Management Team of the Company: 
 

Name  Position  Business address  

Niels G. Stolt-Nielsen 

 
Chief Executive Officer Stolt-Nielsen M.S. Ltd, Aldwych House, 

71-91 Aldwych, London, WC2B 4HN, 
United Kingdom 

Jens F. Grüner-Hegge Chief Financial Officer Stolt-Nielsen M.S. Ltd, Aldwych House, 
71-91 Aldwych, London, WC2B 4HN, 
United Kingdom 

Mark Martecchini President Stolt Tankers Stolt Tankers B.V. (Headquarters Office), 
Westerlaan 5, 3016 CK, Rotterdam, The 
Netherlands 

Guy Bessant President Stolthaven Terminals Stolt-Nielsen Holdings B.V. 
(Headquarters Office), Westerlaan 5, 
3016 CK, Rotterdam, The Netherlands 

Michael Kramer President Stolt Tank Containers Stolt-Nielsen USA, Inc. 15635 
Jacintoport Blvd, Houston, Texas 77015, 
USA 

Jordi Trias President Stolt Sea Farm Edificio Quercus, C/Letonia nº 2, 
Polígono Costa Vella, 15707 Santiago de 
Compostela, Spain 
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Andrew Pickering President Stolt-Nielsen Gas Stolt-Nielsen M.S. Ltd, Aldwych House, 
71-91 Aldwych, London, WC2B 4HN, 
United Kingdom 

Bill Bryant Managing Director APAC and MEA 
regions 

Stolt-Nielsen Singapore Pte. Ltd. 
460 Alexandra Road, #31-01 PSA 
Building, Singapore 119963 

Peter Koenders Chief Information Officer Stolt-Nielsen Holdings B.V. 
(Headquarters Office), Westerlaan 5, 
3016 CK, Rotterdam, The Netherlands 

Anne van Dassen Müller Chief Human Resources Officer Stolt-Nielsen Holdings B.V. 
(Headquarters Office), Westerlaan 5, 
3016 CK, Rotterdam, The Netherlands 

Bapsy Dastur General Counsel and Chief Legal 
Officer 

Stolt-Nielsen M.S. Ltd, Aldwych House, 
71-91 Aldwych, London, WC2B 4HN, 
United Kingdom 

 
 
Niels G. Stolt-Nielsen 

See description under Board of Directors. 
 
Jens F. Grüner-Hegge 

Jens F. Grüner-Hegge was appointed Chief Financial Officer of Stolt-Nielsen Limited in March 2018. Prior to his 
appointment he served as Vice President Corporate Finance from 2007. Earlier in his 25-year career at Stolt-
Nielsen, he served as Director of Tanker Projects for Stolt-Nielsen Transportation Group in Rotterdam from 2004 
to 2007, where he was responsible for capital investment projects. Before that he was General Manager, Stolt-
Nielsen Asia-Pacific Service (SNAPS), a joint venture chemical tanker company based in Singapore. Grüner-
Hegge received his MBA in Finance from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, and his 
bachelor’s degree in Finance from the University of Massachusetts, Amherst. He is a citizen of Norway. 
 
Mark Martecchini 

Mark Martecchini was appointed President of Stolt Tankers in October 2015. He was previously Managing 
Director, Shipowning since 2008. Before that he held numerous positions during the course of his more than 30 
years with Stolt-Nielsen, in the areas of technical management, chartering, logistics, marketing and strategic 
planning and projects. Mark is a 1979 graduate of Webb Institute of Naval Architecture (US) and holds an MBA 
from New York University (US). He serves on the Executive Committee of the International Chamber of Shipping 
and as a Director of the International Tanker Owners Pollution Federation. He is a citizen of the United States  
 
Guy Bessant 

Guy Bessant was appointed President, Stolthaven Terminals in March 2015. He was previously Regional Director 
for Stolthaven in Asia Pacific since 2013. Before that he held senior management positions at Bayer 
MaterialScience (Covestro) and Sasol. From 1996 to 2004, he was with Stolt-Nielsen, joining the company as a 
shipbroker in Singapore before becoming manager of the Company’s tanker, terminal and tank container 
initiatives in China. He holds a BA in Modern Chinese Studies with Management from the University of Leeds 
(U.K.), a postgraduate diploma in International Commercial Law from Northumbria University (U.K.), and an MBA 
from the University of Strathclyde (UK). He is a citizen of the United Kingdom.  
 
Michael Kramer 

Michael Kramer was appointed President of Stolt Tank Containers (STC) in January 2000. He was previously 
Managing Director of STC, and before that General Manager for North & South America. He joined STC in 1982 
and subsequently held a number of positions of increasing responsibility, including Business Development 
Manager (Japan), Business Development Manager (Singapore) and STC Budgeting Director (UK). He was 
previously with B.D.P. International, Inc. Mike received a B.S. from Penn State University (US). He is a citizen of 
the United States. 
 
Jordi Trias 

Jordi Trias became President of Stolt Sea Farm in January 2018 after joining the business as Managing Director 
in 2016. Prior to this he spent 14 years with GBFoods, where he held several positions in marketing, sales and 
business unit management, located in Spain, Kazakhstan, Russia, Ukraine and Senegal. Jordi holds a degree in 
Business Administration from the University of Barcelona, a masters degree in Marketing, and an MBA from the 
Instituto de Empresa. He is a citizen of Spain. 
 
Andrew Pickering 

Andrew Pickering has been with the Stolt-Nielsen Group of companies since 1981. He is currently President of 
Stolt-Nielsen LNG Holding Ltd. Prior to this position he was Managing Director Asia Pacific for Stolt-Nielsen Ltd 
for 14 years responsible for all business activities in APAC for Stolt-Nielsen’s Storage, Tanker and Container 
related businesses. During this period Andrew developed many new joint venture companies and started Stolt 
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Bitumen Services, a trading and distribution division focused on asphalt supply into South East Asia. Prior to this 
Andrew was Executive Vice President and Managing Director for Stolt Tanker Trading from 1996-2000, 
responsible for all commercial and operational activities for the Stolt-Nielsen’s global shipping business. He has 
extensive global trading, shipping and logistics knowledge. He graduated from University of Colorado with a BA in 
Environmental Studies and is currently undertaking a Master’s degree in Environmental Management with 
University of London. Mr. Pickering is a UK resident and a US citizen. 
 
Bill Bryant 

Bill Bryant has served as Managing Director for the APAC and MEA regions since 2014 based in Singapore and 
from 2011 to 2014 as M.D. of MEA region based in Dubai. Prior to this time he held various technical, 
commercial, marketing and management roles in a variety of companies in the petrochemical, chemical and 
mining sectors. He served most of his early career in South Africa later moving to and working in a variety of 
commercial and management roles in Hong Kong, Dubai, Singapore, China, Germany and Indonesia. Bill 
graduated from the University of the Witwatersrand with a B.SC (Eng.) degree in Chemical Engineering in 1985 
and an MBA from Wits Business School in 1992. He is a citizen of South Africa 

 
Peter Koenders 

Peter Koenders joined Stolt-Nielsen Limited as Chief Information Officer on April 1, 2007. He is responsible for 
business technology at Stolt-Nielsen, based in Rotterdam. He has a master's degree in Information Management 
from Tilburg University. He joined Stolt-Nielsen from Maersk, where he was Director of Architecture, Strategy and 
Governance; before that, his career included a wide variety of IT management positions at Maersk, Sealand and 
Asea Brown Boveri. He is a citizen of the Netherlands. 
 
Anne van Dassen Müller 

Anne van Dassen Müller joined Stolt-Nielsen in September 2012 as Chief HR Officer, based in Rotterdam. She 
joined Stolt-Nielsen from JohnsonDiversey, later acquired by Sealed Air Inc., where she was European HR 
Director. Prior to this she held a number of HR positions, including Corporate HR Director for Magasin du Nord in 
Denmark. Anne holds master’s degrees in international business administration and organizational psychology. 
She is a citizen of Denmark. 
 
Bapsy Dastur 

Bapsy Dastur joined Stolt-Nielsen in 2015 as General Counsel and Chief Legal Officer. Prior to joining Stolt-
Nielsen, she was the General Counsel, Head - Legal & Integrity for India, Middle East, and Africa at Asea Brown 
Boveri (ABB). Bapsy has also held several positions at General Electric USA (GE) including as the Senior 
Regional Counsel - Africa, India & Middle East for GE Infrastructure and General Counsel - South East Asia, 
Australia & India for the Structured Finance Group of GE Capital. Before joining GE Infrastructure, Bapsy was 
Head of Legal, Operating Risk, Compliance & Treasury Support – India Region at ANZ Grindlays Bank. She is a 
qualified Solicitor and holds a Bachelors Degree in Commerce and Economics and also a Bachelors Degree in 
Law. 
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Audit Committee  

The table below sets out the names of the members of the Audit Committee of the Company:  
 

Name  Position  Business address  

 

Samuel Cooperman 
SNL Director 

 
Chairman 
 

 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited, XL Building 
One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda 

 
Håkan Larsson 
SNL Director 

 
Member 

 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited, XL Building 
One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda 

 
Niels G. Stolt-Nielsen 
SNL CEO 

 
Attendee 

 
Stolt-Nielsen M.S. Ltd, Aldwych House, 71-91 
Aldwych, London, WC2B 4HN, United Kingdom 

 
Jan C. Engelhardtsen 
SNL CFO 
 
Philip Thomas 
SNL Head of Operational Audit 
 
Homiyar Wykes 
SNL Financial Controller 
 
Kim Holdsworth 
SNL Head of Treasury 
 
David Beer 
PwC Partner 
 
Wendy Russell 
PwC Director 

 
Attendee 
 
 
Attendee 
 
 
Attendee 
 
 
Attendee 
 
 
Attendee 
 
 
Attendee 

 
Stolt-Nielsen M.S. Ltd, Aldwych House, 71-91 
Aldwych, London, WC2B 4HN, United Kingdom 
 
Stolt-Nielsen M.S. Ltd, Aldwych House, 71-91 
Aldwych, London, WC2B 4HN, United Kingdom 
 
Stolt-Nielsen M.S. Ltd, Aldwych House, 71-91 
Aldwych, London, WC2B 4HN, United Kingdom 
 
Stolt-Nielsen M.S. Ltd, Aldwych House, 71-91 
Aldwych, London, WC2B 4HN, United Kingdom 
 
1 Embankment Place, London WC2N 6RH, 
United Kingdom 
 
1 Embankment Place, London WC2N 6RH, 
United Kingdom 

 
 

9.2 Administrative, management and supervisory bodies conflicts 
of interest 
 
Certain members of the Stolt-Nielsen family, together with Fiducia Ltd., a company owned by a trust established 
for the benefit of certain members of the Stolt-Nielsen family, controls 53.93% of the outstanding shares of the 
Company. This control may deter a third party from attempting to take control of SNL without the approval of the 
Stolt-Nielsen family. Additionally, the interests of the Stolt-Nielsen family may conflict with the interests of SNL’s 
other shareholders. 
 
Stolt-Nielsen requires that its business objectives are achieved in an ethical, honest and legal manner. To enforce 
this, a Code of Business Conduct is maintained, which is reviewed and approved by the Board annually. The 
Company does not tolerate any breach of the Code and individuals found to be in breach are subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. The Code sets out the business conduct 
principles and rules that apply to all directors, officers, permanent employees, temporary employees, contractors 
and consultants. 
 
The Code requires all personnel to comply with all relevant laws, regulations and Company policies at all times 
and to behave with integrity, maintaining internal and external relationships in a professional manner, avoiding 
conflicts of interest, bribery and corruption. 
 
Except as stated herein, there are no potential conflicts of interest between any duties to the Company of the 
board of directors or the Company’s management or the Audit Committee, and their private interests or other 
duties. 
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10 Board practices 

10.1 Audit committee 
 
The Board of Directors has established an Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has written charters. These 
charters are reviewed and reassessed by the Board on an annual basis. The Audit Committee is composed of at 
least two members, preferably each of whom is independent pursuant to all applicable regulatory requirements. 
The chairman of the board of directors, Samuel Cooperman, is also chairman of the audit committee.  
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for the oversight of the work of the Company’s external auditor, and for 
recommending the external auditor’s appointment, compensation and retention. Under Bermuda law the 
appointment of the external auditor has to be made by the shareholders in General Meeting, but the approval of 
the external auditor’s compensation may be delegated by the shareholders to the Board of Directors. 
 
The Audit Committee has established guidelines in respect of the use of the Independent Auditors by the 
Company’s executive management for services other than the audit. The Audit Committee shall receive annual 
written confirmation from the Independent Auditors that such firm continues to satisfy the requirements for 
independence. In addition, the Independent Auditors shall provide the Audit Committee with a summary of all 
services in addition to audit work that has been undertaken for the Company. The Independent Auditors shall 
submit the main features of the plan for the audit of SNL to the Audit Committee annually. 
 
The Independent Auditors shall participate in meetings of the Audit Committee that deal with the annual accounts 
and half-year results. At these meetings, the Independent Auditors shall comment on any material changes in the 
Company’s accounting principles, comment on material management estimates and judgements, and report all 
matters on which there has been disagreement between the firm and the executive management of the Company. 
 
The Independent Auditors shall at least once a year present to the Audit Committee commentary on any 
significant internal control findings arising during the audit. 
 
The Audit Committee shall hold a meeting with the Independent Auditors at least once a year at which neither the 
CEO nor any other member of the executive management is present. 
 
The Board of Directors, through the Audit Committee, oversees the monitoring of compliance with the system of 
internal control over financial reporting. At its quarterly meeting the Audit Committee reviews and discusses 
results of internal audits performed by the Operational Audit Department. This also includes matters of an ethical 
nature. All employees, customers, suppliers and other parties have direct access to the Audit Committee, through 
the whistle blowing system, to report any potential illegal or unethical matters. 
 

10.2 Statement of compliance 
The Issuer complies with its country’s of incorporation corporate governance regime.  
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11 Major shareholders 

11.1 Ownership  
 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited has two classes of shares, Common Shares and Founder’s Shares. Except for matters 
where applicable law requires the approval of both classes of shares voting as separate classes, Common 
Shares and Founder’s Shares vote as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of the shareholders, with 
each share entitled to one vote. 
 
The Group’s authorised share capital consists of 65,000,000 Common shares, par value of $1 per share and 
16,250,000 Founder’s shares, par value of $0.001 per share. As of 28 February 2018, 64,133,796 Common 
Shares were issued, of which 61,944,855 were outstanding and 2,315,002 were held in Treasury by the Group 
and 16,033,449 Founder’s Shares were issued, of which 15,486,214 were outstanding and 547,235 were held in 
Treasury by the Group.  
 
Bye-law 74.1 of the Company’s Bye-Laws limit individual shareholdings of Common Shares to 20%, single U.S. 
person shareholdings to 9.9% and shareholders of any single country in aggregate to 49.9%. 
 
Below is the list of the 20 largest shareholders (other than the Group) as at May 25, 2018 of the Common shares 
of Stolt-Nielsen Limited.  
 

 
 
 
As of February 28, 2018, Fiducia Ltd., a company owned by a trust established for the benefit of certain members 
of the Stolt-Nielsen family, together with certain members of the Stolt-Nielsen family, controlled 54.06% of the 
outstanding shares of SNL entitled to vote generally on matters brought to a vote of the shareholders of SNL. As 
a result, the Stolt-Nielsen family is currently able to directly and indirectly exercise a controlling influence over 
SNL’s operations and has sufficient voting power to control the outcome of matters requiring shareholder approval 
including: the composition of SNL’s Board of Directors, which has the authority to direct SNL’s business and to 
appoint and remove SNL’s officers; approving or rejecting a merger, consolidation or other business combination; 
raising future capital; and amending the Bye-Laws which govern the rights attached to SNL’s Common Shares. 
This control may deter a third party from attempting to take control of SNL without the approval of the Stolt-
Nielsen family. Additionally, the interests of the Stolt-Nielsen family may conflict with the interests of SNL’s other 
shareholders. 

 
 

Name Holding Percentage

FIDUCIA LTD  29,634,255 46.2%

Brown Brothers Harriman (LUX.) SCA 1,647,250 2.6%

FOLKETRYGDFONDET  1,582,137 2.5%

MERRILL LYNCH PROF.  CLEARING CORP 1,367,504 2.1%

JEFFERIES LLC 1,011,600 1.6%

CITIBANK, N.A. 776,697 1.2%

EUROCLEAR BANK S.A. 764,339 1.2%

A/S SKARV 550,000 0.9%

CITIBANK, N.A. 548,976 0.9%

STRAWBERRY CAPITAL AS 536,183 0.8%

CITIBANK, N.A. 531,419 0.8%

THE STONEHEDGE TRUST 523,570 0.8%

KLP AKSJENORGE  443,749 0.7%

STOREBRAND NORGE I V  JPMORGAN 395,838 0.6%

STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMP 372,777 0.6%

STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMP 371,294 0.6%

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK,  351,576 0.6%

STOLT-NIELSEN DØDSBO 289,746 0.5%

KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSIONKASSE 276,721 0.4%

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK,  261,948 0.4%
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11.2 Change in control of the company 
 
There are no arrangements, known to the Company, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a 
change in control of the Company. 
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12 Financial information concerning the issuer's assets 
and liabilities, financial position and profits and losses 

12.1 Historical Financial Information 
 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited's consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies consistent 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”).  The Group's 
accounting policies are shown in the Annual Report 2017, note 2, pages 74–82. 
 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited's financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies consistent with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) and IFRIC 
Interpretations. Stolt-Nielsen Limited's accounting policies are shown in the Annual Report 2017, note 2, pages 
141-144. 
 
According to the Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 of 29 April 2004 implementing Directive 2003/71/EC 
of the European Parliament and of the Council, information in a prospectus may be incorporated by reference.  
 
Because of the complexity in the historical financial information and financial statements this information is 
incorporated by reference to the Annual Report 2017 and Annual Report 2016. Please see Cross Reference List 
for complete references. The Q1 interim report can be found here. 
 
 Interim Report  Annual Report 

 Q1 2018*)   2017*) 2016*) 

      
Stolt-Nielsen Limited Consolidated      
Consolidated income statement 3   68 60 
 
Consolidated balance sheet  

 
5 

   
70-71 

 
62-63 

 
Consolidated statement of cash flow 

 
7 

   
73 

 
65 

 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
8-15 

   
74-135 

 
66-129  

      

Stolt-Nielsen Limited      

Income statement --   136 132 

Balance sheet  --   138 134 
 
Statement of cash flow 

 
-- 

   
140 

 
136 

 
Notes to the financial statements 

 
-- 

   
141-151 

 
137-147 

 
*) Including comparative figures for previous year/period.  
 

 

12.2 Financial statements 
 
See section 12.1 Historical Financial Information. 

12.3 Auditing of historical annual financial information 

12.3.1 Statement of audited historical financial information 

 
The historical financial information for 2017 and 2016 has been audited. 
 
A statement of audited historical financial information for the Company is given in the Annual Report 2017 pages 
64-67 and the Annual Report 2016 pages 130-131. 

 
 

https://www.stolt-nielsen.com/media/1871/snl-2017-annual-report.pdf?mode=pad&quality=90&width=0&slimmage=true&rnd=131654971620000000
https://www.stolt-nielsen.com/en/investors/reports-presentations/
https://www.stolt-nielsen.com/media/1902/interim-accounts-1st-qtr-2018-final.pdf?mode=pad&quality=90&width=0&slimmage=true&rnd=131683529510000000
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12.4 Age of latest financial information 

12.4.1 Last year of audited financial information 

 
The last year of audited financial information is year-end November 30, 2017. 
 

12.5 Legal and arbitration proceedings   
 
Collision involving Stolt Commitment 
On December 16, 2015, the Stolt Commitment was involved in a collision with the general cargo ship Thorco 
Cloud, whilst in the Singapore Strait. As a consequence of these events, the Thorco Cloud sank with the loss of 
three lives, three other crewmen being unaccounted for. She was carrying steel and project cargo. The Stolt 
Commitment was damaged in the collision and arrangements made to transship the cargo on board in Malaysia, 
following which she went for repair. General average has been declared. The wreck of the Thorco Cloud, which is 
in two pieces, will probably require removal along with the removal of bunkers on board the ship when she sank. 
Claims have been made against the Stolt Commitment and her insurers by the owners of the Thorco Cloud and 

her insurers, the bereaved families of the deceased/missing crewmen, and those interested in the cargo on board 
the Thorco Cloud. Claims have been notified by the Stolt Commitment to the owners of the Thorco Cloud and her 
insurers. Responsibility for the collision has not yet been determined but any losses, repairs and legal costs will 
be covered by insurance maintained by the Group, subject to deductibles and certain unrecoverable expenses. It 
is not expected that there will be a material adverse effect on the Group’s business or financial condition. 
 
Civil Actions as a result of Hurricane Isaac 

Following the flooding at the terminal in New Orleans/Braithwaite, two class actions and multiple individual actions 
were filed at the District Court in the Parish of Plaquemines, State of Louisiana. 
 
All actions allege pollution of the claimants’ properties with liquids stored at the terminal and allegedly released as 
a consequence of the flooding. The actions are being defended and the monitoring of air quality, sampling of the 
flood waters and soil testing, all carried out in cooperation with the various government authorities, have shown 
results within the guidelines established by the Louisiana Department of Environmental Quality. In addition, 
Stolthaven New Orleans LLC has received a number of claims from residents for costs and/or damages via a 
claims hotline and all such claims have been made part of the above-referenced litigation. All these matters 
including the legal fees for the defence are covered by insurance maintained by the Group and it is not expected 
that they will have a material adverse effect on its business or financial condition. 
 
Civil Actions as a result of the fire on the MSC Flaminia 

On July 14, 2012, a fire broke out aboard the MSC Flaminia during the ship’s crossing of the Atlantic Ocean in 
cargo hold number 4. During the crew’s attempt to extinguish the fire, an explosion occurred. Stolt Tank 
Containers (“STC”) had 29 tank containers onboard the ship, three of which were stowed in cargo hold number 4. 
These tanks carried various products for various customers. 
 
STC filed claims for the replacement value of the tank containers and the product carried. In August 2012 vessel 
interests declared General Average. The vessel was initially hauled to Germany and then sailed onward to 
Romania for inspection, investigation and discharge operations. 
 
On May 29, 2013, the vessel interests, namely the owner, manager and operator filed counter and cross claims 
against STC and Deltech, the shipper of the three tank containers stowed in cargo hold number 4, alleging that 
these tank containers were the cause of the fire and that STC did not adequately warn of the inherently 
dangerous nature of the cargo. Since that time, several other cargo claimants have filed cross claims against STC 
and Deltech. 
 
The case remains pending in the U.S. federal court sitting in the Southern District of New York. All fact and expert 
discovery on liability has been completed. Trial on liability is scheduled to start in June 2017. Following trial, legal 
discovery on damages is to start thereafter. The matter is in the hands of the insurers and, other than the 
deductible of $100,000, all other claims and anticipated costs are expected to be covered by insurance and it 
is not expected that they will have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business or financial condition. 
 
Other than the above, the Company is not aware of any ongoing, pending or threatened governmental, legal or 
arbitration proceedings during the previous 12 months that may have or have had in the recent past a significant 
effect on the Company and/or the Group’s financial position or profitability. 
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12.6 Significant change in financial or trading position 
 
There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of Group since the end of the last 
financial period for which annual and interim financial information has been published.   
 

12.7 Risk management 
 
Financial risk management 

All risk management is performed for the Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. The Group’s 
objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for Shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce the cost of capital. The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as market risk 
(including currency risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s 
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to 
hedge certain risk exposures. Risk management is carried out by a Central Treasury department under policies 
approved by the Board of Directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close 
cooperation with the Group’s operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, 
as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use 
of derivative financial instruments and investment of excess liquidity. 
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13 Material contracts  
 
The Company has not entered into any material contracts outside the ordinary course of business for the two 
years prior to the date of this Prospectus.  

 

 

14 Documents on display 
 
The following documents (or copies thereof) may be inspected for the life of the Registration document at the 
registered office of the Company, Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda, according to 
clause 5.1.4: 
 
(a) the memorandum and articles of association of the Company; 
(b) all reports, letters, and other documents, historical financial information, valuations and statements prepared 
by any expert at the Company's request any part of which is included or referred to in the Registration Document; 
(c) the historical financial information of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings for each of the two financial 
years preceding the publication of the Registration Document. 
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Cross Reference List 
 
Reference in 
Registration 
Document 

Refers to Details 

12.1 Historical 
Financial 
Information 

Annual Report 2017, available at 
https://www.stolt-
nielsen.com/en/investors/reports-
presentations/ 

Stolt-Nielsen Limited Consolidated accounting 
policies, note 2, pages 74-82 

 Annual Report 2017, available at 
https://www.stolt-
nielsen.com/en/investors/reports-
presentations/ 

Stolt-Nielsen Limited accounting policies, note 2, 
pages 141-144 

 Interim Report Q1 2018, available at 
https://www.stolt-
nielsen.com/en/investors/reports-
presentations/ 

Stolt-Nielsen Limited Consolidated 

Consolidated income statement page 3 
Consolidated balance sheet page 5 
Consolidated statement of cash flow page 7 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
pages 8-15 

 Annual Report 2017, available at 
https://www.stolt-
nielsen.com/en/investors/reports-
presentations/ 

Stolt-Nielsen Limited Consolidated 

Consolidated income statement page 68 
Consolidated balance sheet pages 70-71 
Consolidated statement of cash flow page 73 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
pages 74-135 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited 

Income statement page 136 
Balance sheet page 138 
Statement of cash flow page 140 
Notes to the financial statements pages 141-151 

 Annual Report 2016, available at 
https://www.stolt-
nielsen.com/en/investors/reports-
presentations/ 

Stolt-Nielsen Limited Consolidated 

Consolidated income statement page 60 
Consolidated balance sheet pages 62-63 
Consolidated statement of cash flow page 65 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
pages 66-129 
Stolt-Nielsen Limited 

Income statement page 132 
Balance sheet page 134 
Statement of cash flow page 136 
Notes to the financial statements pages 137-147 

12.3.1 
Statement of 
audited 
historical 
financial 
information 

Company Annual Report 2017, available at 
https://www.stolt-
nielsen.com/en/investors/reports-
presentations/ 

Auditors report pages 64-67 
 
 
 
 

 Company Annual Report 2016, available at 
https://www.stolt-
nielsen.com/en/investors/reports-
presentations/ 
 

Auditors report pages 130-131 

 
References to the above mentioned documents are limited to information given in “Details”, e.g. that the non- 
incorporated parts are either not relevant for the investor or covered elsewhere in the prospectus. 
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Joint Lead Managers & Bookrunners' disclaimer 
 
Danske Bank A/S, DNB Bank ASA, Nordea Bank AB (publ) and Swedbank Norway (the "Joint Lead Managers & 
Bookrunners") have assisted the Company in preparing this Registration Document. The Joint Lead Managers & 
Bookrunners have not verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or 
undertaking, express or implied, is made and the Joint Lead Managers & Bookrunners expressly disclaim any 
legal or financial liability as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Registration 
Document or any other information supplied in connection with bonds issued by the Company or their distribution. 
The statements made in this paragraph are without prejudice to the responsibility of the Company. Each person 
receiving this Registration Document acknowledges that such person has not relied on the Joint Lead Managers 
& Bookrunners or on any person affiliated with it in connection with its investigation of the accuracy of such 
information or its investment decision. 
 
Confidentiality rules and internal rules restricting the exchange of information between different parts of the Joint 
Lead Managers & Bookrunners may prevent employees of the Joint Lead Managers & Bookrunners who are 
preparing this Registration Document from utilizing or being aware of information available to the Joint Lead 
Managers & Bookrunnerss and/or affiliated companies and which may be relevant to the recipient’s decisions. 
 
 

Trondheim/Oslo (Norway), 28 June 2018 
 
 
 

Danske Bank A/S, 
Norwegian branch 

(www.danskebank.no) 

DNB Bank ASA 
(www.dnb.no) 

Nordea Bank AB (publ), 
Norwegian branch 
(www.nordea.no) 

Swedbank Norway, 
branch of Swedbank AB 

(publ) 
(www.swedbank.no) 
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Stolt-Nielsen Limited Memorandum of Association  




























































































